The Effects of Land Use Changes on Soil Carbon in the Russian Steppe

Abstract of a thesis presented to the Faculty

of the University at Albany, State University of New York

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

Master of Science

College of Arts & Sciences

Department of Earth and Atmospheric Sciences

Andrew M. Ratigliano 2006

#### Abstract

Increasing atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> levels within the past few centuries have led to many studies about the global carbon cycle. An important aspect in balancing the modern global carbon budget revolves around a missing sink of carbon. It is thought that the carbon accumulation in soil may be a significant component in this loss. As changes in land use under natural conditions have increased over the years, it is not well understood how these changes may affect the soil carbon. A useful technique in determining these changes are with the use of archived samples. Within a Russian steppe preserve that has been protected since 1885, modern samples from three different land use plots (meadow steppe, planted forest, and tilled field) were compared to a 100-year-old archived sample of initial conditions in addition to archived samples from these same plots throughout the past 100 years. It was hypothesized that there would be both increases and decreases in soil carbon in addition to physical changes in the soil. Compared to the initial conditions of the pristine plot, organic carbon concentration decreased in the meadow steppe, remained about the same in the planted forest, and decreased in the tilled field. The conversion to tilling showed the greatest amount of change in organic carbon concentration. The organic carbon stock in the meadow steppe showed little change compared to the pristine stock. The planted forest and tilled field showed a significant decrease in carbon stocks. The bulk density in each land use plot increased in the upper half of the profile and decreased in the lower half compared to the pristine plot. Weathering has increased in each of the land use plots. Overall, the change in land use had varying effects on Russian steppe soil, which was determined by using archived samples starting from initial conditions 100 years ago and at various points throughout that time.

The Effects of Land Use Changes

on Soil Carbon in the Russian Steppe

A thesis presented to the Faculty

of the University at Albany, State University of New York

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

Master of Science

College of Arts & Sciences

Department of Earth and Atmospheric Sciences

Andrew M. Ratigliano 2006

# Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my committee members Dr. Andrei G. Lapenis, Dr. Gregory B. Lawrence, Dr. William S. F. Kidd, and Dr. John G. Arnason for their guidance and assistance over these many years. I would like to thank everyone at the USGS and SUNY Albany for their advice, help, and positive encouragement. Finally, I would like to thank all my friends and family that have been there through it all.

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction	1
Soil Formation	7
Site Descriptions	
Methods	
Results	
Discussion	
Carbon Concentration Meadow Steppe Planted Forest Tilled Field	
Carbon Stocks Bulk Density Meadow Steppe Planted Forest Tilled Field	
Conclusions	40
Literature Cited	

# List of Tables

Table I Location and coordinates of the modern soil pits sampled in each land use
Table II Bulk Density of the modern soil pits and the archived pristine soil pit at various sampling depths 55
Table III Total carbon stocks and organic carbon stocks at various depth intervals from each land use type
Table IV Data set 1 concentrations of carbonate, total carbon, and organic carbon at various sampling depth intervals from pits in each of the different land uses
Table V Data set 2 concentrations of carbonate, total carbon, and organic carbon at various sampling depth intervals from pits in each of the different land uses
Table VI Averaged organic carbon concentrations in data set 2 at combined depth intervals in the modern pits from each of the different land uses
Table VII Averaged total carbon and organic carbon concentrations of the modern representative pits from data set 2 at combined depth intervals from each of the different land uses

# List of Figures

Figure 1	Map of Russia showing the Kamennaya Steppe Preserve where the Dokuchaev Institute is located
Figure 2	Kamennaya Steppe National Park
Figure 3	Summary of the types of data available for data set 1 and data set 2 in each land use
Figure 4	Archived monolith HRSC 1900
Figure 5	The meadow steppe, planted forest, and tilled field in 199871
Figure 6	The meadow steppe, planted forest, and tilled field soil pits in 199872
Figure 7	The relative locations of the modern (1998) soil pits within each land use
Figure 8 and tilled	Organic carbon concentrations of two modern samples from the meadow steppe, planted forest, field
Figure 9	Total and organic carbon concentrations from data set 175
Figure 10	Analyzed and estimated organic carbon concentrations from data sets 1 and 276
Figure 11	Analyzed total carbon concentrations from data sets 1 and 2
Figure 12	2 Modern total, organic, and carbonate concentrations from pit 2 and pit 3 in the meadow steppe78
Figure 13	Modern total, organic, and carbonate concentrations from pit 4 and pit 6 in the planted forest79
Figure 14	Modern total, organic, and carbonate concentrations from pit 9 and pit 10 in the tilled field80
Figure 15	Archived total, organic, and carbonate concentrations from the meadow
Figure 16	5 Archived total, organic, and carbonate concentrations from the planted forest
Figure 17	Archived total, organic, and carbonate concentrations from the tilled field
Figure 18	Archived and modern carbonate concentrations
Figure 19	Archived and modern carbonate concentrations
Figure 20	Archived pristine and modern organic carbon concentrations
Figure 21	Archived and modern organic carbon concentrations from the meadow steppe
Figure 22	2 Archived and modern organic carbon concentrations from the planted
Figure 23	Archived and organic carbon concentrations from the tilled field
Figure 24	Archived pristine and modern bulk densities
Figure 25	Modern total carbon stocks in the top 20 cm of soil in the different land use types

Figure 26 Archived pristine and modern organic carbon stocks in the top 20 cm of soil in the different land use types
Figure 27 Archived pristine and modern organic carbon stocks in the top 50 cm of soil in the different land use types
Figure 28 Modern total carbon stocks in the top 100 cm of soil in the different land use types
Figure 27 Archived pristine and modern organic carbon stocks in the top 100 cm of soil in the different land use types

## Introduction

Since the industrial revolution, and especially within the past 100 years, atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> levels have been increasing more than any other time in history (Lal 2004, Rustad et al. 2000, IPCC 1995). Since 1750, the atmospheric concentration of CO<sub>2</sub> has increased by 31% due to fossil fuel combustion and land use change (IPCC 1995). Over this 100 year time, global emissions of carbon due to land use change and soil cultivation are estimated at  $136 \pm 55$  Pg (Pg = petagram = $10^{15}$  g = 1 billion tones) and 78  $\pm$  12 Pg due to the depletion of soil organic carbon pools (Lal 2004, IPCC 2001). The emission of CO<sub>2</sub> has been a major concern to scientists due to its impact on the climate. This has lead to many studies to gain more knowledge on the global carbon cycle (Lal 2004, Karl and Trenberth 2003, Guo and Gifford 2002, IPCC 2001, Falkowski et al. 2000)

One concern in balancing the modern global carbon budget is a missing sink of carbon that cannot be accounted for (Prentice et al. 2000, Keeling 1997, Kerr 1992). For the 1980's and 1990's,  $1.9 \pm 1.3$  Pg C/yr and  $2.3 \pm 1.3$  Pg C/yr, respectively, represented unknown sinks for the global carbon budget (Lal 2004, Prentice 2001). Given that 75% of the terrestrial carbon inventory is contained in soils (Rhoades et al. 2000, Schlesinger 1986, Houghton et al. 1985), it is thought that carbon accumulation in the soil may be a major component in this annual loss. Since much of the world's soils have been or will be cultivated, being able to quantify changes in soil carbon due to changes in land use could be useful in better understanding the global carbon cycle (Brye et al. 2002, Guo and Gifford 2002, Mikhailova et al. 2000b, Ross et al. 1999). This thesis focuses on one aspect of the global carbon cycle: how changes in land use affect soil carbon over time.

Some of the most fertile soil in the world is the Chernozem (Mollisol) soil of the Russian steppe (Torn et al. 2002, Dokuchaev 1949). This area has in recent time undergone significant changes in land use over most of the area. The effects on soil carbon due to these land use changes are not well understood (Torn et al. 2002, Mikhailova et al. 2000a,b). During the past 100 years, agricultural Chernozems lost about 50 percent of their soil carbon in the top 1 m of soil (Lapenis et al. 2000). Despite this substantial loss of soil carbon from cultivated land, in Russia alone, Chernozems occupy 6,586,470 ha and contain about 130 to 160 t ha<sup>-1</sup> of organic matter in the top 20 cm of soil (Mikhailova et. al 2000b.). A large reservoir of carbon is contained in the mineral soils throughout the world. Estimates fall between 1115 and 2200 Pg of carbon in the top 1 m of soil (Rustad et al. 2000, Trumbore 1997, Eswaran et al. 1993). This overshadows the biomass of plants by about three fold (Bashkin and Binkley 1998, Houghton et al. 1987), which is estimated between 560 and 835 Pg C (Bernoux et al. 2002, Bouwman 1990).

In the Kamennaya Steppe National Park, near the town of Voronezh, the Dokuchaev Institute has protected an area of land for over 100 years. This area contains pristine steppe, meadow steppe, planted forests and tilled fields. Before the cutting of the meadow steppe, planting of the forests and tilling of the fields, the entire area was covered with natural steppe vegetation. The land use of this area has been known since 1892 (Torn et al. 2002). By assessing these pieces of information together, a better understanding can be made about the effects of land use on weathering and soil carbon over time and more specifically, how total carbon, organic carbon and carbonate concentrations have been affected.

A common way to determine changes in land use over time is to compare modern samples of natural conditions to modern samples of different land uses in the area (Halvorson et al. 2002, Franzluebbers et al. 2000, Mikhailova et al. 2000b, Pulleman et al. 2000, Rodionov et al. 2001, Ross et al. 1999). This is done with the assumption that no change in carbon has occurred in the natural conditions over the period of time that has passed after the change in land use or that natural changes have affected all land uses equally. This assumption could lead to an inaccurate determination of change because it would not be known for certain whether just the change in land use caused the carbon concentrations in each land use plot to increase, decrease, or remain unchanged through time. If the actual initial conditions, representing a baseline for comparison, were known for each of the land use plots, a more accurate determination of change through time can be made (Cerri et al. 2004, Bernoux et al. 2002, Scott et al. 2002). This determination can be made with the use of archived samples. Modern samples can be compared to archived samples taken prior to the change in land use as well as samples taken in times between initial conditions and modern time to determine how much change has occurred. One disadvantage to this method is that archived samples are not that common, or are only a few decades old, which may not be enough time to show clearly the effects of land use change (Shevtsova et al. 2003, Lapenis et al. 2000, Hussain et al. 1999). The turnover time for organic carbon in soil is typically estimated on the order of a decade to a century (Trumbore 1997, Trumbore et al. 1996, Tate et al. 1995, Tate 1992, Jenkinson 1990, O'Brien 1984).

Another problem that is encountered when trying to determine the changes in carbon concentration is that much of the research that has been done only concentrates on the top

layers of soil. This could lead to an underestimate of soil carbon (Mikhailova et al. 2000b, Davidson and Ackerman 1993).

A paper by Torn et al. 2002 showed that no change in soil carbon had occurred in the pristine steppe of the Kamennaya Steppe preserve for at least the past 100 years. An archived soil sample taken between 1895 and 1903 was compared to modern samples taken in 1997 to a depth of about 130 cm. The modern samples were taken at the same site as the archived samples by using precise field notes. The concentrations of carbon were similar between the archived and two modern pits. The carbon stock concentrations in the top 20 cm and the total profile varied by less than 6%. The soils contained 32-33 kg  $C/m^2$ . One third of that was in the top 20 cm and two thirds below that level. The difference in total nitrogen content or C:N ratio down the profile was not significant. Both the modern and archived soils had C:N ratios of 11 throughout the profile. Also, both <sup>13</sup>C and <sup>14</sup>C data showed that only the upper layer (10 cm) of soil had fresh organic matter from photosynthesis during the past 40 years. Below 10 cm, the organic matter has the deplete radiocarbon content of older, more recalcitrant material. The increase in  $^{13}C/^{12}C$  ratio with increasing depth of the 100 year-old-soil showed that this pattern was not caused by fossil fuel dilution but by local processes. The shift in <sup>13</sup>C from the archived to modern samples showed that little of the currently observed <sup>13</sup>C pattern was due to the effect of fossil fuel emissions. The data showed that these soils have a large reservoir of recalcitrant carbon. It also showed that carbon stocks had not changed in the 100 years between sampling.

What makes the present study unique is having archived samples throughout the past 100 years in each of the various land use plots. Since it has been established that the

pristine steppe of the Kamennaya Steppe preserve has remained undisturbed in the past 100 years, the change in carbon concentration can be shown in the meadow steppe, planted forest and tilled field using the archived sample from the pristine steppe as the baseline. Secondly, the progression of change in carbon concentration can be seen through time in each of the different land use plots.

The objectives of this study are to observe how these different land uses have affected the soil carbon of this region relative to natural conditions over a period of about 100 years. It is hypothesized that there should be an increase in organic carbon concentration in the meadow steppe and planted forest and a decrease in the tilled field in comparison to the pristine area. An increase in soil organic concentration is expected in the meadow steppe and planted forest because of the addition of new organic matter from the cut hay being left on the ground in the meadow steppe and from the maturing trees in the forest. The organic carbon concentration in the tilled field is expected to decrease because of increased decomposition and leaching. Secondly, compared to each other, the planted forest should have the highest carbon concentration followed by the meadow steppe, then the pristine steppe and finally the tilled field. The planted forest should add more organic matter from litter and roots than the addition of organic matter by the cut hay in the meadow steppe. Without the addition of organic matter as in the planted forest and meadow steppe, the pristine steppe should not change in concentration. The tilled field should have the lowest carbon concentration because of an increase in decomposition and leaching which will decrease the organic carbon concentration compared to the other three plots. The bulk density should increase or remain about the same in the meadow steppe, decrease in the planted forest and increase in the tilled field

compared to the pristine area. The meadow steppe could possibly see an increase in bulk density due to changes in the soil from the hay being cut as well as people walking on the land. The roots in the planted forest may lead to a decrease in bulk density because of root growth over time. The roots will cause spaces as the roots move through the soil as well as when the roots die. In the tilled field, compaction is likely because of the soil disturbance and deterioration from the tilling. Carbon stocks (the amount of carbon) are expected to increase in the meadow steppe, increase or remain about the same in the planted forest and decreased in the tilled field compared to the pristine stock. If the carbon concentration and/or the bulk density increase great enough, the carbon stock in the meadow steppe and planted forest should increase. The tilled field will probably be dominated more by the decline in carbon concentration than by an increase in bulk density. Finally, it is expected that the carbonate concentrations, used as an indicator for weathering, will decrease due to an increase in precipitation in combination with natural weathering processes.

#### **Soil Formation**

Soil formation is the natural development of horizons in a profile (Donahue et al. 1977). The development is evident as organic matter accumulates, colloids are transported downward in the profile, and zones of clay, carbonate, iron oxide, humus, and/or gypsum accumulation develop. Russian soil scientists proposed that soil formation is the result of climate and living matter acting upon soil material on a given relief over a period of time. There are five factors of soil formation, parent material (passive), climate (active), biosphere (active), topography (passive), and time (neutral).

Rocks on the surface of the earth are weathered until enough of the essential elements become available to support lower forms of plant life. A process is then in place causing a buildup of organic matter, organic acids, and an increase in water retention. This process will cause the weathering of the rock to increase, which will lead to the formation of soil layers. Through time, mobile minerals and organic particles near the surface will be leached downward and some of them will be deposited a few inches below the surface. In a few hundred years, the leached surface soil layers and the accumulation layer in the subsoil may be well developed and contrasting in many characteristics. The kind of soil that develops depends in part upon the kind of rock present. Soils derived from limestone parent rock (half carbonates; half clays, silts, and sands) may develop loams or clay loams of high natural fertility.

Climate is the dominant factor in soil formation. The two main influences are precipitation and temperature. Some direct effects of climate on soil formation include salt accumulation due to insufficient rainfall, acidification due to intense weathering and leaching, and erosion and deposition in unstable landscapes. Moisture is important because a soil is said to be "formed" when it has detectable layers of accumulated clays,

organic colloids, carbonates, or soluble salts that have been moved downward by water. An indirect effect of climate is through its action on vegetation. In humid climates forests are the dominant vegetation. The soil profile that develops in a forest has many more horizons than one that develops under grass. Semiarid climates such as the Russian steppe encourage only prairie grasses, and a deep, dark, uniform, surface soil results. Arid climates supply only enough moisture for sparse, short, plains grasses. In areas where temperature is high, weathering is mainly chemical decomposition and occurs most of the time. In contrast, weathering in cold climates can be enhanced by physical disintegration by the formation of ice (frost wedging).

The biosphere influences soil development in many ways. The most direct influence plants and animals have on soil development are the contents and distribution of organic matter, soil acidity, and the bulk density. Variations of this development due to vegetation differences can be seen frequently at the tree-grass boundary in Minnesota, Illinois, and Missouri, as well as most of the regions in the western half of the United States. Forest soils can contain more horizons, which usually include a well developed B horizon, have a more highly leached surface layer, and less decomposed organic matter at the surface compared to soils that were developed under grass vegetation. Grassland soils near the tension zone of forests typically have a deep (30 cm or more), dark A horizon under which are weakly developed subsurface layers. The B horizon can be very thin or absent. In large numbers, burrowing animals such as moles, gophers, earthworms and ants, can have a key part in soil formation. Continuous mixing within the soil profile will lead to the formation of fewer soil horizons. The functions of microorganisms in soil

development are the decomposition of organic matter and the production of weak acids that dissolve minerals more readily than water.

Topographic influences on soil formation are closely linked to the water and temperature effects of an area. If the climate and parent materials are similar, a comparison among different topography can be seen. Steep hillsides on average will have thin A and B horizons due to rapid runoff, which doesn't leave much time for the water to penetrate through the profile, and because of heavy erosion of the surface. A gently sloping hillside usually will display a deeper profile, abundant vegetation, and a higher content of organic matter. These features are primarily the result of differences in water movement through the soil. Depressions can contain soils with a large accretion of organic matter. This is because runoff waters converge from the surrounding elevated areas. This promotes high production of vegetation and high moisture content that can slow decomposition of the biomass. Organic soils like peat are formed when the soil surface is wet for many months of the year. A depression may become a salt marsh if the accumulating waters have dissolved salts from the nearby soils. Depending on the salt concentration, this can cause the growth of unique tolerant vegetation or no vegetation at all.

The length of time that it takes for a soil to develop horizons is associated with varying degrees of contribution from the previous four factors of soil formation. The rate of soil development is the effect of time in addition to parent material, climate, biosphere, and topography. Horizons tend to develop faster under warm, humid, forested conditions where there is enough water to move colloids, allow significant organic matter to decompose, and to weather minerals. A recognizable soil profile may develop within 200

years under ideal conditions, or may be prolonged to several thousand years if conditions are considerably less favorable. The main factors that slow down soil profile development include low rainfall, resistant parent material, very steep slopes, cold temperatures, and mixing by animals and humans.

Organic matter is an active and important portion of soil. Only about 1 to 5 percent organic matter is usually found in the top 25 cm of most cultivated soils. Even that small amount can change the physical, chemical and biological properties of the soil. Organic matter improves soil quality because it increases cation exchange capacity, increases porosity, improves water and air interactions, and reduces erosion by wind and water. Most of the nitrogen in soils comes from organic matter as do large percentages of the phosphorous, sulfur, boron, and molybdenum. To maintain soil productivity, organic matter must be replenished as it mineralizes.

# **Site Descriptions**

The following site description is a summary as interpreted by Torn et al. 2002 due to some references being written in Russian. The area studied was the Central Chernozem Region of Russia, about 200 km east of Voronezh (Figure 1). Soil samples were collected from within the Dokuchaev Institute located in the Kamennaya Steppe National Park (Figure 2). The park is about a 5,000 ha watershed, isolated by the Chigla and Talovaya rivers. Within the preserve, the elevation is 200 m with gradual relief and has a mean annual temperature of 6.4°C. There has been an increase in average annual precipitation in the past 100 years from about 430 mm to 520 mm. The majority of this increase has been due to an increase in winter precipitation. The water table drops from 2 m below the surface in April to 5 m below the surface in mid winter. As with precipitation, the mean annual water table height has also increased over the past 100 years from about 7 m below the surface to about 3 m below. Since 1950 the wind speed has dropped from about 6 m/s to 3 m/s with an average wind speed of 4.5 m/s (Sentsova 2002). The grasslands in the area have been referred to as meadow steppe or Kamennaya steppe. The parent material of the Kamennaya region is brown-yellow carbonate loess and clay thought to have been deposited ~4,500-6,000 years ago during the mid-Holocene. Prior to protection, fields in this region were periodically grazed and burned. Vegetation was not managed (i.e., nothing was seeded) or tilled. Since establishment in 1882-1885, the preserve areas have been protected from tillage, grazing, and other land management changes that are now prevalent in the region. Fire frequency has been reduced in the region and the preserve since 1900. Dokuchaev implemented the planting of forest windbreaks (hedgerows) on the borders of fields in the Dokuchaev Institute area.

The preserve sites are characterized as moist Tipchak (fescue or feathergrass) steppe, analogous to the tall grass prairie of North America. Tipchak steppe was historically widespread in Russia, covering about  $1.5 \times 10^6 \text{ km}^2$ . The vegetation is mainly herbaceous perennials with some encroachment of woody perennials. The dominant species inside the preserved steppe area were *Festuca sulcata* with *Knautia arvensis* (height 45-85 cm), *Veronica spicata* (15-20 cm) and *Sedum acre* (2-5 cm). Above-ground plant biomass is 100-120 g dry wt/m<sup>2</sup>. All of the plant species identified from 1970 to 1992 use C<sub>3</sub> photosynthesis and no large changes in relative species abundance have been documented. Pollen analysis of the archived soil confirms that historic plant species also employed C<sub>3</sub> pathways. Therefore, the  $\delta^{13}$ C signature of plant inputs is expected to be roughly -27‰, and there is no evidence for historical change in the isotopic content of plant inputs.

#### Methods

A summary of the methods and data available as described in the proceeding section are shown in Figure 3. Archived monolith HRSC 1900 (historic Russian soil collection 1900) (Figure 4) was taken sometime between 1895 and 1903. For ease, the sample year will be considered to be 1900. This archive is the reference sample representing the pristine, initial conditions of the study region prior to any land conversion. This monolith was labeled 'Kamennaya Steppe, Talovaya preserve.' The preserve is 24 ha in two areas, preserve #1 and #2, located 0.7km apart.

Starting in 1882 within a section of preserve #1, seasonal hay removal had been done yearly until 1912, after which hay was then cut and left on the ground. The other section of preserve #1 where monolith HRSC 1900 was taken as well as most of preserve #2 remained pristine. The land use referred to as the meadow steppe, has continued to undergo seasonal hay cutting that is left on the ground. In 1908, a forest was planted to serve as a windbreak in the preserve #1, by tilling the land and planting acorns. The planted forest measures 116 m wide and is a mix of 50% white oak (*Quercus alba L.*), 30% birch (Betula bena), 20% elm (Ulmus americana), less than 1% of red maple (Acer *rubrum*) and ash (*Fraxinus L*.). The land use referred to as the tilled field, continued to undergo seasonal hay cutting without hay removal between 1912 and 1920, at which time the field was then tilled for the first time. Since 1920, the field has continued to be tilled. Just prior to the first tilling in 1920, a monolith was collected in this land use plot and archived. Since the tilled field land use plot was still under the same land use as the meadow steppe in 1920, the archived sample taken prior to tilling can be used as an additional archived sample in the meadow steppe. The tilled field was planted with wheat (Triticum estivum) which is cut (only about 5-10 cm of stalk remains), collected

and then plowed at the end of each growing season. The tilled field is separated from the meadow steppe by the planted forest.

In 1947, a monolith was collected within the planted forest, and archived. In 1970, a monolith was collected within the meadow steppe, and archived. All archived monoliths were stored air dried, in dust proof wooden boxes in a horizontal position (Torn et al. 2002). In 1995, sub samples were taken from each archived monolith by removing a vertical slice (approximately 5 x 2.5 cm) of the profile from the right-hand side of the monolith (Torn et al. 2002, Lapenis et al. 2000).

In 1997, one soil pit was sampled in the pristine area of preserve #1 and one pit in preserve #2. The sample taken in preserve #1 (HRSC 1997) was in the vicinity of archived monolith HRSC 1900 (Torn et al. 2002). In 1998, the meadow steppe, planted forest, and tilled field (Figure 5), were also resampled. Two pits were dug in each of the different land use types. Pits 2 and 3 (Figure 6a), were dug in the meadow steppe, pits 4 and 6 (Figure 6b), were dug in the planted forest, and pits 9 and 10 (Figure 6c), were dug in the tilled field. These samples were also taken in close proximity to the sampling location of their respective archived monoliths. To be as precise as possible when resampling, detailed field notes were used to find the locations where the archived monoliths were taken. Figure 7 and Table I shows the different land use plots and the locations of the modern sampling.

The sampling of the modern soil pits was done by digging down to a depth of 2 m. Beginning at the bottom of the pit, a rectangular channel the entire thickness of the chosen depth interval was collected. Two separate sets of samples were taken; one went

to Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA and the other to The University at Albany, NY.

The samples sent to Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory were oven dried at 60°C for 48 hours. Large identifiable plant material was removed from the soil before the sample was passed through a 2 mm sieve. The samples were then ground with metal bards on a roller mill for one week followed by grinding with a mortar and pestle. Carbonate removal for the analysis of organic carbon was done by hydrochloric acid fumigation as described in Harris et al. 2001 with slight modifications to the method. Total carbon and organic carbon concentrations were analyzed using a Carlo Erba NA 1500 Carbon and Nitrogen analyzer interfaced with a Micro Optima Mass Spectrometer.

Both the modern and archived samples sent to The University at Albany were stored in plastic bags and kept cool or refrigerated until being oven dried at 70°C. They were then passed through a 2 mm sieve. The total carbon concentration of the soil was measured with a Carlo Erba EA1110 CHN Elemental Analyzer. Approximately 25 mg of air dried sample was used in the total carbon analysis. Sample weight did not affect reproducibility. Total carbon concentration had values of 70.38  $\pm$  1.63% for the quality control sample, 1.78  $\pm$  7.57% for the standard reference sample, and an average relative standard deviation of 2.32% for 11 sets of triplicates. The triplicates were three separate analytical runs from the same soil sample that were run in sequence.

Soil core samples of known volume were taken at various depth intervals and dried to calculate the bulk density of the modern pits (Table II). Bulk Density data was not available for the archived samples from each of the different land use plots. The bulk density for HRSC 1900 is assumed to be the same as in the modern samples taken in

1997 due to there being a close match in horizons and carbon concentration (Torn et al. 2002). Carbon stocks were calculated by depth interval using a weighted carbon concentration, interval depth, and bulk density. Volumes were summed to a depth of 20 cm, 50 cm and 100 cm to express carbon contents in kg/m<sup>2</sup> (Table III).

This study utilized two data sets. Data set 1 (Table IV), consisted of total and organic carbon concentrations for the modern samples (pits 2, 3, 4, 6, 9, 10) and organic carbon concentrations only, for HRSC 1900. Organic carbon was measured directly by treating samples with hydrochloric acid to remove carbonates prior to analysis. This data set was obtained from Margaret S. Torn and Asmeret Berhe from Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA.

Data set 2 (Table V), consisted of total carbon and estimated carbonate concentrations for both modern samples (pits 2, 3, 4, 6, 9, 10) and archived samples collected in the meadow steppe in 1970, the planted forest in 1947, and the tilled field in 1920. Carbonate estimates were obtained from Andrei G. Lapenis from The Department of Geography and Planning, University at Albany, NY. To estimate carbonate concentration a total digest was done on all samples. The samples were digested by microwave-assisted hydrofluoric acid digestion (EPA method 3252). Samples were then analyzed on a Varian Vista ICP. Using the calcium and magnesium (the two primary cations in carbonate loess, the parent material of this soil) concentrations from the total digest, in addition to exchangeable calcium and magnesium, an estimate of carbonate concentration was calculated. This carbonate estimate was then subtracted from the total carbon concentration to give an estimate of organic carbon concentration because organic carbon was not analyzed directly in this data set.

The soil depth of 0 cm corresponds to the top of the mineral layer and increasing depth was indicated positively. The modern samples were collected at depth intervals from the top of the mineral soil down to about 115 cm for data set 1 and down to about 145 cm for data set 2. The archive samples were collected at intervals from the top of the mineral soil down to about 100 cm.

Of the two modern sample pits dug in each of the three land use plots, one of the two pits was chosen to represent that particular land use, pit 2 in the meadow steppe, pit 6 in planted forest, and 10 in the tilled field. One representative pit was chosen because the sampling depths between the two pits did not correspond to each other and therefore were not averaged together. In addition, the variability among the two pits should be consistent therefore choosing one pit should not make a difference when used in comparisons. To assess variability within land use types, data from the two pits were plotted together versus depth for each different land use (Figure 8 and Table VI). To facilitate comparison between the pits, the depth intervals were combined by averaging, to provide the best match.

Data set 2, along with HRSC 1900 from data set 1, were used in the comparisons of the different land use types. The smaller sampling depth intervals in the modern samples in data set 2 (Table V) possibly give a more accurate account of carbon present in the varying sections of the profile compared to the larger sampling depth intervals in data set 1 (Table IV). This is not necessarily the case in all soils. Depending on the variability of the soil, larger depth intervals may also provide the results similar to smaller depth intervals.

Although, directly measured concentrations would be preferred for use in a data set as opposed to using estimated concentrations, in this particular study the measured organic carbon from data set 1 was questionable because the organic carbon concentration was higher than the total carbon concentration, in the upper part of the profile (Figure 9). The main reason for this is due to the method used. The method is moderately accurate in addition to there being compounded experimental error.

To check the similarity between carbon concentrations of the modern samples of data set 1 and data set 2, organic carbon (Figure 10), and total carbon (Figure 11) concentrations were plotted. To make a better comparison between the two data sets, depth intervals from data set 2 were combined to correlate more to the respective depths in data set 1 (Table VII). The organic carbon profiles for data set 2 follow a more typical trend than those for data set 1. In each case, data set 2 has a higher organic carbon concentration than data set 1 in the upper part of the profile and a lower concentration in the bottom part of the profile. The total carbon concentrations of data set 2 are greater than those of data set 1, with the exception of the interval in the meadow steppe from about 62-82 cm depth. The difference is particularly distinct in Figure 11b. The unusual trends with depth in data set 1 further support the use of data set 2.

#### Results

For each of the three land use plots, samples from the two modern pits yielded similar organic carbon concentrations at most depths (Figure 8). Slight differences were seen in each plot. In the meadow steppe (pits 2 and 3), the largest difference between the two plots was found between the depths of 45-80 cm. In the planted forest (pits 4 and 6), a small difference was seen down the entire profile with a maximum difference at about 10 cm. In the tilled field (pits 9 and 10), the greatest difference was at around 40 cm.

A threshold was identified at the point where the carbonate concentration increased rapidly with increasing depth (Figures 12-17). Above the threshold, the carbonate concentration was around 0.5 % with little variation in both the modern and archived pits. In the modern pits, the thresholds of carbonate concentration were similar to each other and fell between the ranges of 63-73 cm depth with a variation of only a few cm. The exception to this was in the tilled field where the threshold of pit 9 was 88 cm depth. The thresholds in the archived samples were also similar to each other and fell between the ranges of 43-48 cm with a variation of only a few cm (Figures 15, 16, 17). In the archived pits, there were slight variations in carbonate concentration down the profile. In particular around 60 cm where the tilled fields archive decreased rapidly. Over time, all the thresholds moved farther down the profiles and showed a decrease in carbonate concentrations (Figures 18 and 19). The concentration of carbonate in the meadow steppe (pit 2) below the threshold was less than in the planted forest (pit 6) and the tilled field (pit 10).

Above the threshold, the total concentration of carbon is dominated by organic carbon and this feature changes abruptly below the threshold (Figures 12-17). This is

shown in both the modern and archived pits. Below the threshold, the organic carbon concentration continues to decrease in contrast to the total carbon concentration which increases greatly due to the increase of carbonate concentration. For the modern pits, the concentration of organic carbon and total carbon plot closer together than for the archived pits. For both the modern and archived pits, the trend of the organic carbon concentration decreases down the profile at a generally consistent rate. The total carbon decreases steadily down the profile until reaching the threshold where is increases rapidly. In the tilled field (pits 9 and 10) this pattern is not followed within the first 40-45 cm. Instead, the carbon concentrations in this interval remain about the same with little variation.

The organic carbon concentration of the three modern pits was plotted along with archived sample HRSC 1900 versus depth (Figure 20). In the first 30 cm of the modern pits, the planted forest (pit 6) had the highest carbon concentration followed by the meadow steppe (pit 2) and the lowest in the tilled field (pit 10). The reference pit, archived sample HRSC 1900, had the highest carbon concentration in the first 10 cm and then plotted close to the planted forest (pit 6) for the majority of the profile. In the tilled field, pit 10 has little variation in the organic carbon concentration to about 35-40 cm before decreasing down the profile. In the planted forest, pit 6 and archived sample HRSC 1900 decreased in organic carbon concentration rapidly in the first 20 cm. In the first 10 cm, the planted forest (pit 6) has about twice the concentration as the tilled field (pit 10). From about 30-40 cm, all the pits converge together before the tilled field (pit 10) decreases more than the others and continued with the lowest concentration down the profile. Below the first 40 cm, the meadow steppe (pit 2), the planted forest (pit 6), and archived sample HRSC 1900 plot close to each other for the remainder of the profile.

With the exception of the upper 40 cm of the tilled field (pit 10), the organic carbon concentration of archived pit HRSC 1900 follows the same general trend as the modern samples as the depth increases down the profile.

To see the changes in organic carbon concentration over time for each land use plot, the archived pits and modern pit were plotted together versus depth (Figures 21, 22, 23). In the meadow steppe (Figure 21), archived sample HRSC 1900 had the highest organic carbon concentration in the first 25-30 cm, followed by modern pit 2, then the archived sample from 1970, and finally the archived sample from 1920. Below 20 cm, pit 2 and archived sample HRSC 1900 plot close to each other and follow the same general trend. Archived samples from 1920 and 1970 also follow this trend, but remain lower in concentration except around 40 cm, where pit 2, the 1970 archived sample, and archived sample HRSC 1900 converge. At around 95 cm, the 1920 archived sample converges with the other plots. Archived sample HRSC 1900 has the greatest decrease in organic carbon concentration in the upper 20 cm. There is not much change between these pits since 1970. There was a very large decrease in organic carbon concentration down to about 25 cm in the 1920 archive compared to the archive HRSC 1900. Below this depth, the 1920 archived sample remains at about half the concentration of archived sample HRSC 1900 until around 80 cm.

In the planted forest (Figure 22), modern pit 6 and archived sample HRSC 1900 plot close together and follow the same trend down the entire profile. Around 30 cm, the 1947 archived sample begins to follow the same trend. The 1947 archived sample has almost half the concentration of organic carbon than the other two pits to about 10 cm, and maintains the lowest concentrations throughout the profile. Pit 6 and archived

sample HRSC 1900 decrease in organic carbon concentration at a much faster rate then the 1947 archived sample. At a depth of about 80 cm, all the plots come together for the remainder of the profile.

In the tilled field (Figure 23), archived sample HRSC 1900 has the highest organic concentration in the upper 30 cm, followed by modern pit 10, and then the 1920 archived sample. Archived sample HRSC 1900 has about twice as much organic carbon concentration as the other two pits until about 10 cm. The 1920 archived sample has the lowest concentration until about 90 cm where all three plots converge. The trends are relatively similar after about 40 cm, in particular pit 10 and the 1920 archived sample. For the first 40 cm, modern pit 10 has little variation in organic carbon concentration.

Overall, the modern pits had a greater concentration of organic carbon than the archived samples from their respective land use plots. The planted forest had the greatest difference of organic carbon concentration between its modern pit and corresponding archive. Archived sample HRSC 1900 had the greatest concentration in the uppermost part of the profiles and in some cases farther down the profiles as well. The organic carbon concentrations for all of the pits decreased down the profile and were at low concentration of about 0.5% or less at the bottom of the profile.

The bulk density in the pristine plot steadily increases with depth (Figure 24). The bulk densities of the modern land use plots also increase with depth but more slowly and over a shorter range compared to the pristine plot. In the upper 50 cm, the modern plots have a higher bulk density than the pristine plot. The bulk densities in the top 20 cm fall in the range of 0.5-0.8 (g/cm<sup>3</sup>) and 0.8-0.9 (g/cm<sup>3</sup>) in the pristine and modern plots respectively. The tilled field has the highest bulk density in the first 10 cm,

followed by the meadow steppe, then planted forest and finally the pristine plot. The bulk density for both the meadow steppe and planted forest increase in the first 35-40 cm, whereas the tilled field remains about the same. The meadow steppe and planted forest follow the same general trend down the length of the profile.

The total carbon stocks in the upper 20 cm of the modern plots decreases in order from the meadow steppe (10.50 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), to planted forest (10.45 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), to tilled field  $(9.19 \text{ kg/m}^2)$  (Figure 25). The organic carbon stocks in the upper 20 cm of the 1900 pristine plot and the modern plots decreases in order from the 1900 pristine plot (10.10  $kg/m^2$ ), the meadow steppe (9.75 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), planted forest (9.66 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), and tilled field  $(8.27 \text{ kg/m}^2)$  (Figure 26). Compared to the pristine organic carbon stock, the meadow steppe, planted forest and tilled field show changes of -3.5%, -4%, and -18% respectively. The organic carbon stocks in the upper 50 cm of the 1900 pristine plot and modern plots range in order from the meadow steppe  $(21.48 \text{ kg/m}^2)$ , to the 1900 pristine plot (20.97 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), to planted forest (20.54 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), and the tilled field (19.82 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) (Figure 27). Compared to the pristine organic carbon stock, the meadow steppe, planted forest and tilled field saw changes by +2.5%, -2%, and -5.5% respectively. The total carbon stocks in the modern plots down to 1 m range in order from the highest in the meadow steppe ( $40.22 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ), to planted forest ( $36.64 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ), and tilled field (34.67 $kg/m^2$ ) (Figure 28). The organic carbon stocks in the 1900 pristine plot and modern plots down to 1m, decreased in order of the meadow steppe  $(31.42 \text{ kg/m}^2)$ , the 1900 pristine plot (30.99 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) planted forest (27.96 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), and tilled field (26.88 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) (Figure 29). Compared to the pristine organic carbon stock, the meadow steppe, planted forest and tilled field saw changes by +1%, -10%, and -13% respectively. The top 20 cm,

contained one third of the organic carbon and about a quarter of the total carbon in the 1 m profiles.

## Discussion

#### Carbon Concentration

The similarity of the replicate modern pits (Figure 8) indicates limited variability within the area of each land use type where the samples were taken, which made it possible to choose one pit to be representative for each land use plot. The variation that is shown could be due to slight natural variability and the association with the location of the pit to the surrounding area (i.e. Pit 2 is closer to the planted forest, Figure 7).

The low concentration of carbonates in the upper part of the profile shows that the majority of carbonates have been weathered away in this part of the profile (Figure 19). The similarity in the carbonate concentrations in the upper 45 cm of the modern and archived samples show that little additional weathering of carbonates has taken place to this depth over time likely because the carbonates were already weathered away prior to the sampling of the archived samples. The downward progression of weathering is shown by a deepening in the carbonate thresholds in the modern profiles compared to the thresholds of the archived profiles. In addition, the concentrations of carbonates have decreased in the modern samples below the thresholds of the archived samples. Weathering processes are responsible for the downward movement of the carbonate threshold (Schlesinger 1997). The rate of downward movement was likely increased by the increase in precipitation of this region. Variations in carbonate concentration may in part be related to the carbonate concentration being estimated using total digest data as well as slight natural variability. The cause of the unusual trend of carbonate concentration in the 1920 archived sample below about 65 cm is not known but may be due to an irregularity in the profile formation in that particular location.

Organic carbon is the primary form of carbon in the upper profile above the carbonate threshold (Figures 12-17). In both the archive and modern plots, there is a general decreasing trend in organic carbon concentration throughout the profile to about 0.5% or less at 1 m depth. The highest concentration of organic carbon is at the top of the profile because that is where most new organic matter is introduced into the soil (Raich and Nadelhoffer 1989). Also, with depth, less and less organic matter is present because of its limited mobility in the soil (Buol et al. 1980). In modern tilled field pits 9 and 10, the decreasing trends in carbon concentration are not seen until below 40-45 cm due to the effect of mixing caused by tilling. Below the carbonate threshold, the organic carbon concentration continues to decrease whereas the carbonate and total carbon concentrations increase. There is a noticeable separation between the organic and total carbon concentrations because of the increase in carbonate concentration. The total and organic carbon concentrations in the modern samples plot closer together compared to the plots of concentrations of the archived samples due to the decrease in carbonate concentration over time. This is further evidence that carbonate has been weathered away throughout the profile. The decrease in total carbon concentration with depth is a combination of both weathering and the decrease in organic carbon concentration.

# Meadow Steppe

Twenty years of hay cutting, substantially decreased the organic carbon concentration down to 80 cm. This would be expected because of the removal of aboveground biomass during each growing season up until 1912. Also, the hay removal will allow more precipitation to infiltrate the soil because the biomass will not uptake as

much of the precipitation, in addition to more precipitation making it to the ground. This will lead to the leaching of organic matter as well as quicker decay. After 1912, the organic carbon concentration probably began to increase since the hay that was cut was left on the ground. This would allow for some of the biomass to return to the soil. Over the next 50 years, the organic carbon concentration increased and continued to increase slightly for the next additional 18 years after that (Figure 21). One possible reason for this increase in carbon concentration is most likely that the 68 years of leaving the hay on the ground caused an accumulation of carbon throughout the profile. The crop removal resulted in a large decrease in organic carbon concentration that did not fully recover to initial conditions by 1998. The 1970 archived sample and modern pit 2 sample were not taken in the exact same plot as the 1920 archived sample. After 1908, the forest was planted between these sampling areas. There may have been an effect from this causing an accumulation of carbon within the top 70 cm. Finally, it is also possible that because of the distance between sampling sites, there could have been slight variations in the soil that may have added to this increase although this was probably minimal contribution. Below 20 cm, the concentrations were similar to the original conditions of the pristine steppe.

# Planted Forest

Prior to the establishment of a new forest plantation, there can be considerable effects on soil carbon due to site preparation (Johnson 1992). Within the first 39 years of being planted, the organic carbon concentration in the forest decreased by about half compared to the pristine plot (Figure 22). The main contributing factors to this decrease

were probably the crop removal that started in 1882 up to 1908, followed by tilling, in preparation for the planting of acorns. Smethurst and Nambiar 1990 found about a 40 % decrease in soil carbon over three and a half years with a windrow and plough preparation. As in the meadow steppe, the crop removal prior to 1908 would cause the organic carbon to decrease due to the removal of biomass and increased decomposition and leaching. This decrease would be magnified because of the tilling, which has also been shown, leads to a decrease in organic matter (Cambardella and Elliot 1992, Tiessen and Stewart 1983, Haas et al. 1957, Jenny 1941). As a constantly new supply of organic matter is introduced into the soil from leaf matter, carbon is being decomposed. Turner and Lambert 2000 found that plantation growth does not offset the net decline in soil organic carbon for at least nine years and possibly more than twenty.

Within the next 41 years, the organic carbon concentration increased to a level almost identical to the initial conditions shown by archived sample HRSC 1900. Soil carbon usually increases substantially where former agricultural sites are reverted to forests or where newly developing soil undergoes afforestation (Johnson 1992). Many studies that have taken place over long periods of time (> 50 years) have shown these results (Bashkin and Binkley 1998, Jenkinson 1991, Lugo et al. 1986, Jenkinson 1970, Wilde 1964). An increase is expected once the forest has been established for a long enough period of time, due to the introduction of new organic matter from the decomposition of litter and root matter (Raich and Nadelhoffer 1989). As the trees grow, the belowground root mass will increase. An increase in root mass will increase the uptake of water and hold the soil together which will decrease the amount of leaching and
erosion of the soil. As organic carbon inputs from various sources begin to exceed the processes of outputs, soil organic carbon will begin to increase in concentration.

#### Tilled Field

For 30 years prior to 1912, the tilled field area underwent seasonal hay removal followed by 8 years of seasonal cutting of hay that was left on the ground. The crop removal caused a decrease in organic carbon for reasons previously discussed which can be seen from the archived sample taken in 1920 (Figure 23). The initial decrease was probably slightly larger than what is seen in 1920 because organic carbon was most likely added to the soil between 1912 and 1920. This can not be proven for sure since there are no archived samples between 1900 and 1920. The same year that the 1920 archived sample was taken, annual tilling of the field began for wheat production. Since this area underwent a change in land use prior to tilling, the archived sample taken in 1920 essentially represents the new starting condition to which modern pit 10 can be compared.

Over the next 68 years, the organic carbon concentration increased. From 30-40 cm and below 70 cm, the increase in organic carbon concentration was restored to the conditions of the pristine steppe. Below the tilling depth (40 cm), the organic carbon in modern pit 10 followed the same general trend as the pristine plot. The increase in organic carbon concentration from 1920 to 1998 is somewhat of an anomalous result. Many studies have shown that cultivation of grasslands have led to a loss in soil organic matter (Burke et al. 1995, Cambardella and Elliot 1992, Johnson 1992, Burke et al. 1989, Aguilar et al. 1988, Tiessen and Stewart 1983, Haas et al. 1957, Jenny 1941). In the

Great Plains and Corn Belt regions of the Central United States, conversion of native ecosystems to agricultural lands has significantly reduced the organic matter from soils across these regions (Barnwell et al. 1992, Campbell 1978, Wilson 1978, Haas et al. 1957). Reasons for this loss are plant residue inputs are decreased while outputs such as erosion and decomposition through physical mixing are increased, soil aggregates are degraded, and finally there is enhanced contact of litter and inter-aggregate organic matter with decomposing organisms (Robles and Burke 1997, Burke et al. 1995, Doran and Werner 1990, Tivy 1987, Elliot 1986, Anderson and Coleman 1985, Tiessen et al. 1982, Van Veen and Paul 1981). Based on the land use history in this plot, it should follow that the organic carbon should undergo these same types of processes, leading to a decrease in organic carbon concentration.

The most probable reason that the tilling did not further decrease the organic carbon concentration is the planting of the adjacent forest as a windbreak. Windbreaks have been used for many years because of the benefits that they provide (Kuhns 1998, Kort 1988, Sutherland 1986, Howe 1986, Gade 1978). These benefits include reducing soil erosion, improving moisture by trapping snow, and increasing crop yield (Kuhns 1998, Howe 1986, Russell and Grace 1979, Gade 1978, Bates 1911). In the early 1900's this area was drier and more susceptible to erosion by wind and water (Torn et al. 2002, Ivanov 1991). Erosion removes vast amounts of soil (including organic carbon) each year especially in agricultural land causing a reduction of productivity (Kuhns 1998, Pimentel et al. 1995, Myers 1993, Lal and Stewart 1990). Wind and water erosion will reduce the quality of the soil by decreasing infiltration rates, water-holding capacities, nutrients, organic matter, soil biota and soil depth (Pimentel et al. 1995, Troch et al.

1991, El-Swaify et al. 1985, Office of Technology Assessment 1982). With the decrease in infiltration rate and water capacity, the amount of runoff will increase leading to a decrease in soil moisture (Kuhns 1998). In this particular case, wind is the main form of erosion. The land in this area is relatively flat so water erosion is less important to the removal of organic carbon. Repeated tilling removes vegetation that can act as a protective cover to help reduce erosion (Pimentel et al. 1995). As the forest windbreak matures and trees grow taller and thicker, the amount of erosion would decrease. This growth would provide protection from wind as well as allow for the trapping of snow.

For the past 100 years, the precipitation in this area has increased, most of which occurred in the form of snow (Torn et al. 2002, Ivanov 1991). In areas that receive a significant portion of precipitation from snowfall, the trapping of snow can be important. The additional moisture from trapped snow, can aid in crop growth during dry years (Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada 2003).

The decrease in soil erosion and the increase in soil moisture resulting from the protection of the windbreak will lead to a higher crop yield. Crop protection can lead to as much as a 44% increase in crop yield (Kuhns 1998). An increase in crop yield would give rise to more organic matter being added to the soil and increasing organic carbon concentrations.

Another consideration besides the crop yield itself is the type of crop. After 1920, the natural grass vegetation was replaced with wheat as the new cover crop. The change from grass vegetation to wheat vegetation may have influenced the crop yield as well as the amount of organic matter that would be added to the soil.

These preceding factors could have overshadowed the effects of tilling, and as a result led to an increase in organic carbon concentration in the tilled field rather than an expected decrease.

In the upper 40 cm of the profile, the organic carbon concentration was relatively constant. This is the result of mixing due to tilling and the depth at which the concentration remains constant is representative of the tilling depth. Below this depth, there is a decrease in organic carbon. This decrease is partially due to the crop removal over time not contributing much new organic carbon to the soil. Also, the increase in precipitation over the past 100 years could be a contributing factor. Although the bulk density has increased over time, the fresh tilling of the soil could lead to a temporary decrease in bulk density. This temporary decrease in bulk density could allow for better infiltration of water which would cause an increase in leaching.

## Carbon Stocks

A change in carbon stocks can be influenced by a change in land use or land cover (Guo and Gifford 2002, Bolin and Sukumar 2000). With the additional consideration of time, the effects on carbon stocks of these changes can vary in magnitude (Scott et al. 2002, Jenny 1980, Syers et al. 1970). Many studies have been done investigating the effects of different land use changes on carbon stocks (Guo and Gifford 2002, Scott et al. 2002, Neill and Davidson 1999, Scott et al. 1999, Lal et al. 1998, Johnson 1992). Since there was no total carbon data for the pristine plot, only the total carbon stocks of the modern land use plots could be compared to each other. In the top 20 cm of the profile, the meadow steppe and planted forest had about the same content of total carbon while

the tilled field had about 12% less (Figure 25). To a depth of 1 m there was a more distinct difference. Compared to the meadow steppe which had the highest total carbon content, the planted forest and tilled field contained about 9% and 14 % less total carbon respectively (Figure 28). The top 20 cm contained a quarter of the total carbon in the 1 m profiles. This is because there is more carbonate in the lower half of the profile that is being taken into account whereas carbonate is not as big an influence in the top half of the profile. The greater differences between the three land use plots down to 1 m are a result of the differences in total carbon concentration and bulk density.

In the top 20 cm, the organic carbon stock has decreased in each land use plot compared to the pristine plot. The largest decrease was in the tilled field by about 18%. The meadow steppe and planted forest plots decreased by less than 5% (Figure 26). The organic carbon stock down to 1 m gave different results. Compared to the pristine plot, the meadow steppe increased by less than 2% while the planted forest and tilled field decreased by 10% and 13% respectively (Figure 29). Overall, the most significant change in carbon stocks compared to the pristine plot was in the tilled field. The planted forest showed only a slightly significant change in organic carbon stock down to 1 m. Estimates based on ecosystem modeling, have shown that at least half of the organic matter in the top 0-20 cm after disturbance are in fast-cycling carbon pools (Trumbore et al. 1996, Townsend et al. 1995, Schimel et al. 1994, Davidson and Ackerman 1993). Given that the majority of organic matter is added in the upper section of a soil profile, it is understandable that the top 20 cm contained one third of the overall organic carbon in the profile. This agrees with results found in the pristine plot by Torn et al. 2002.

## Bulk Density

The bulk density in each land use plot increased compared to the pristine plot. The most likely reason for this increase in the meadow steppe was probably the continued cutting of the hay. Since the area would be traveled on to remove the hay, it would make sense that the ground would become more compact. The planted forest was expected to decrease because of the continued growth of roots leaving spaces in the soil. Increased precipitation and the added weight of the trees as the forest matures could be possible reasons for the bulk density increase. Another consideration could be the type of undergrowth vegetation. The soil may have become more compacted because of smaller root systems and increased precipitation. Although the bulk density in the planted forest did increase, in the top 20 cm, it had the smallest increase in bulk density compared to the other two land use plots. The bulk density in the tilled field was expected to increase. This is mainly due to the temporary decrease in bulk density as a result of tilling causing the soil to be more easily compacted. Over time, the increased precipitation, soil degradation, and the tilling process would cause this compaction.

#### Meadow Steppe

The meadow steppe showed an increase in organic carbon stock compared to the pristine plot, as well as having a larger stock than the planted forest and tilled field in the first 1 m of soil. Although earlier land use consisted of hay removal from 1882 until 1912, which most likely led to a decrease in organic carbon, after 1912 hay was allowed to remain on the ground after being cut. This most likely led to an accumulation of organic carbon for various reasons. First, by allowing the cut hay to remain on the

ground, it will start to decompose and contribute new organic matter to the soil. Another source or organic matter is from the remaining stalks. Once the hay has been cut, the stalks that are still planted in the ground will die and decompose. This will also cause the roots to decompose. Since grasslands have a large root mass, this addition is important to the input of soil organic matter. Finally, the bulk density has increased in the top half of the profile compared to the pristine plot. This, in addition to a rising organic carbon concentration, would result in a greater carbon stock.

### Planted Forest

The planted forest had a slightly significant loss in organic carbon stock compared to the pristine plot in the first 1m of soil. It also had a lower concentration than the meadow steppe but a larger concentration than the tilled field. It is commonly thought that afforestation, especially after conversion from degraded soils, will act as a carbon sink (Lal 2004, Perruchoud et al. 2000, Bouma et al. 1998, Dixon et al. 1994, Johnson 1992). Previous studies have shown varying results in the organic carbon stock in planted forests (Kelly and Mays 2005, Hooker and Compton 2003, Guo and Gifford 2002, Johnson 1992). A decrease in soil organic carbon concentrations were found by Knoepp and Swank 1997 and Hamburg 1984. Increases were found by Hooker and Compton 2003, Richter et al. 1999, and Jenkinson 1991, 1970. No Changes were found by Trettin et al. 1999. Johnson et al. 1988 found both no change as well as an increase. Finally, Guo and Gifford 2002 found a decrease and no change in soil organic carbon.

The types of tree species as well as the previous land use are influential in the resulting carbon stock (Turner and Lambert 2000, Turner and Kelly 1977). Pastures

converted under pine plantations showed a decrease in soil carbon stocks while under broadleaf or naturally regenerated secondary forests carbon stocks were unaffected (Guo and Gifford 2002). In a forest dominated by mixed oak with previous agricultural land use, soil carbon content increased at a rate of about 0.542 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>yr<sup>-1</sup> (Hooker and Compton 2003). In 100 red pine plots of varying age planted on former agricultural land showed an increase in soil organic matter (Wilde 1964).

There are several reasons that a decrease in organic carbon stock in the planted forest was seen compared to the pristine plot. Prior to planting, the land underwent hay removal followed by tilling. This disturbance from the establishment of the plantation may have led to a loss in soil organic carbon. Site preparation and tree planting can disturb soil structure, breaking up soil aggregates and can lead to carbon leaching as well as an increase in decomposition (Guo and Gifford 2002, Turner and Lambert 2000). This initial disturbance would only lead to a deficit in carbon stocks, that would increase the amount of carbon needed to be accumulated to return to the original level. After the forest is planted, carbon content will increase due to inputs of organic matter from litter and root turnover (Turner and Lambert 2000) possibly leading to restoration of initial conditions.

The main reason for the overall carbon loss in the planted forest is most likely due to the lower root production in the forest compared to the pristine grassland (Guo and Gifford 2002, Cerri et al. 1991). In tussock grasslands in New Zealand, up to 50% of the carbon input can be from roots (Tate et al. 1995, Meurk 1978). The distribution of soil organic carbon in the top meter of soil is deeper in grasslands than in forests (Guo and Gifford 2002, Jobbagy and Jackson 2000, Tate et al. 1995). Although there may be a

higher content of organic matter in the form of litter in forests, it is more susceptible to decomposition and is not distributed far down the soil profile (Guo and Gifford 2002, Tate et al. 1995, Tate et al. 1993). The input of organic matter from tree roots is not as great of an influence as grass roots due to a slower annual turnover of dying tree roots, and could therefore lead to a decrease in soil organic carbon (Guo and Gifford 2002, Post and Kwon 2000).

Since there was a similar concentration of organic carbon in the pristine plot and the modern sample from the planted forest (Figures 20 and 22), bulk density also contributed to the overall decrease in carbon stock in the planted forest. In the top 50 cm of the profile, the bulk density of the planted forest was greater than the pristine plot and thus led to a higher carbon stock (Figure 24). The pristine plot in the lower 50 cm was greater in bulk density than the planted forest and by a greater margin than the difference seen in the upper 50 cm. This led to an overall greater carbon stock in the pristine plot (Figure 27).

Grasslands contain a higher portion of stable organic matter throughout the profile which supplies plant nutrients, increases cation exchange and water holding capacities (Guo and Gifford 2002, Tate and et al. 1995, Anderson 1991, Miller and Donahue 1990). Soil under the snow tussocks in New Zealand was wetter than in the forest which favored organic carbon accumulation (Tate and et al. 1995). The preserve area has over the years increased in precipitation, most of which was in the form of snow (Torn et al. 2002, Ivanov 1991).

### Tilled Field

The tilled field had the greatest and most significant loss of organic carbon in the first 1 m of soil compared to the pristine plot, meadow steppe, and planted forest. Many studies have been done showing that cultivation reduces the soil organic matter storage of soils (Miller et al. 2004, Haas et al. 1957, Hide and Metzer 1939, Jenny 1941, 1933, Alway 1909). Schlesinger 1984 estimated that globally  $0.8 \times 10^{15}$  g C/yr may be lost from cultivated soils. When tillage occurs it allows for the soil organic matter to become incorporated into conditions that allow for more rapid decomposition (Halvorson et al. 2002, Doran 1980). These include greater moisture content, aeration, leaching of soluble organic carbon, and exposure of stable adsorbed organic matter by the break up of aggregates (Schlesinger and Andrews 2000, Gregorich et al. 1998, Six et al. 1998, Elliot 1986). Halvorson et al. 2002 found that in comparison to other tilling methods, no-till techniques had the greatest amount of accumulation of soil organic matter in the top 15 cm. It has also been shown that the use of no-till techniques used on previously cultivated land could restore soil organic matter (Schlesinger and Andrews 2000, Campbell et al. 1999, Wood et al. 1991, Dick 1983).

An increase in the rate of decomposition is not the only case that can lead to a loss in soil organic carbon. The opposite may also contribute. Tilling soil can lead to erosion, crusting, compaction, reduction in water infiltration capacity and water/air imbalance leading to anaerobiosis. Soil degradation can result in lower biomass productivity by depleting nutrients, increasing soil acidity, and causing a build up of salts in the root zone (Lal 2004).

The disturbance of belowground biomass may also have contributed to the loss in organic carbon. Belowground biomass is an important part of total soil organic carbon

and carbon dynamics in grassland soils (Slobodian et al. 2002, Gale and Cambardella 2000, van Ginkel and Gorisson 1998). A study by Slobodian et al. 2002 showed that within prairie grassland, belowground biomass was significantly higher than in a cultivated field. Also the density of plants in the prairie was greater than in the cultivated field. Root systems in prairie grasslands are more developed compared to annual crops due to the perennial nature of grassland species as well as having a longer growing season and not having their roots disturbed by tillage (Slobodian et al. 2002, Acton 1991).

The bulk density and carbon concentration were an important factor in determining the carbon stocks of the meadow steppe and planted forest. Although the bulk density in the tilled field increased from 1900 to 1998 just as the meadow steppe and planted forest did, the carbon concentration was significantly lower in the tilled field than in the other land use plots. The difference in carbon concentration was enough to cause the carbon stock in the tilled field to remain significantly less than the carbon stocks in the other land uses.

## Conclusions

Over the time period of 100 years, there was both a gain and a loss of organic carbon concentration in the first 1 m of soil after a pristine steppe underwent three different types of land use conversions that included a meadow steppe, planted forest, and tilled field. Each land use showed an initial decrease in organic carbon concentration followed by an increase through time. Compared to the initial concentration of the pristine plot, the meadow steppe decreased, the planted forest remained about the same, and the tilled field decreased in organic carbon concentration. The conversion to tilling showed the greatest amount of change in organic carbon concentration with lesser change in the meadow steppe and planted forest.

The bulk density in each of the land use plots increased in the upper half of the profile compared to the pristine plot and decreased in the lower half. Overall, each land use plot showed varying degrees of increase and decrease compared to each other.

The organic carbon stocks in the meadow steppe showed little change compared to the pristine stock. The planted forest and tilled field showed a significant decrease in carbon stock.

Throughout the 100 years of land conversion, weathering has increased in each of the different land use plots.

Among the three land use plots, the land use that best sequestered carbon was the planted forest. The organic carbon concentration in the planted forest in 1998 was almost the same as the pristine plot. The concentration in 1998 was about twice the organic carbon concentration in the planted forest in 1947. The least favorable land use for sequestering carbon was the tilled field. Although the organic carbon concentration in the tilled field actually increased after tilling began in 1920, compared to the meadow

steppe and planted forest this concentration was much less. As of 1998, the tilled field did not reach organic carbon concentrations that were relatively similar to that of the pristine plot as much as the meadow steppe and tilled field did. For this reason, the tilled field sequestered the least amount of carbon. A land use change that was not directly looked at in this study was the hay removal (1882-1912) on the land use plots prior to their conversion. Although this is a land use change from pristine conditions, this was not a land use conversion that was explicitly investigated. A point to note is that this may have led to the greatest decrease in organic carbon concentration versus the meadow steppe, planted forest, and tilled field. Additional archived samples would be needed in order to show this to be true for certain.

Based on the results of this study, future speculation leads to a continual increase in organic carbon concentration in all the land use plots. The planted forest is expected to show the greatest increase. As the forest matures, more organic matter will be available to be incorporated into the soil. The meadow steppe may continue to increase but on a much slower scale than that of the planted forest. It may take a few decades to a century to return to the initial conditions of the pristine plot if it indeed fully recovers. The tilled field may show an increase in organic carbon concentration but may be limited as to the extent. As the planted forest continues to mature, the influence it has as a windbreak on the tilled field may also increase or at least remain at its current level. Crop yield and soil moisture content may continue to increase as a result. Although an increase in organic carbon concentration may result because of the influence from the maturing of the planted forest, eventually a limit will probably be reached. Further studies and improvements are needed to be done. In this study, changes in soil carbon were able to be detected, but analyzing for organic carbon directly and sampling at consistent depth intervals could provide for a more refined analysis. Additional types of soil classes and different kinds of land uses need to be incorporated, as well as using deeper profiles in order to get a more complete analysis on the changing global carbon cycle. Also studying different regions of the world may show varying results in the same types of soil and land use combinations. The use of archived samples will greatly aid in this process.

The results of this study did not necessarily directly answer whether or not the sequestration of carbon in soil is a component of the missing carbon sink, it did show that soil carbon plays an important role in the global carbon cycle. The effects on soil carbon will vary in response to land use changes in different parts of the world. This study gives another piece of information about the effects of land use changes on the global carbon cycle in the Central Chernozem Region of Russia.

# **Literature Cited**

- Acton, D.F. 1991. Grassland soils. p. 25-54 in R.T. Coupland (ed.) Natural grasslands. Introduction and Western Hemisphere. Ecosystems of the World 8A. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada. 2003. Snow control with shelterbelts. Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Administration Online.
- Aguilar, R., E.F. Kelly, and R.D. Heil. 1988. Effects of cultivation on soils in northern Great Plains rangelands. Soil Science Society of America Journal 52:1081-1085.
- Alway, F.J. 1909. Changes in the composition of loess soil of Nebraska caused by cultivation. Nebraska Agricultural Experiment Station Bulletin 111.
- Anderson, D.W. and D.C. Coleman. 1985. The dynamics of organic matter in grassland soils. Journal of Soil and Water Conservation 40:211-216.
- Anderson, J.M. 1991. The effects of climate change on decomposition processes in grassland and coniferous forests. Ecological Applications 1(3):326-347.
- Barnwell, T.O., E.T. Elliot, C.V. Cole, K. Paustian, A.S. Donigian, and A. Rowell. 1992. An approach to assessment of management impacts on agricultural soil carbon. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 64:423-435.
- Bashkin, M.A., and D. Binkley. 1998. Changes in soil carbon following afforestation in Hawaii. Ecology 79(3):828-833.
- Bates, C.G. 1911. Windbreaks: their influence and value. Forest Service Bulletin, 86. Government Printing Office, Washington.
- Bernoux, M., M. da Conceicao, S. Carvalho, B. Volkoff, and C.C. Cerri. 2002. Brazil's soil carbon stocks. Soil Science Society of America Journal 66:888-896.
- Bolin, B. and R. Sukumar. 2000. Global perspective. p. 23-51 in R.T. Watson, I.R. Noble, B. Bolin, N.H. Ravindranath, D.J. Verado, and D.J. Dokken (ed.) Land use, Land Use Change, and Forestry. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Bouma, J., G. Varallyay, and N.H. Batjes. 1998. Principal land use changes anticipated in Europe. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 67:103-119.

- Bouwman, A.F. 1990. Global distribution of the major soils and land cover types. p. 31-59 in A.F. Bouwman (ed.) Soils and the greenhouse effect: proceedings of the international conference on soils and the greenhouse effect. John Wiley and Sons, New York.
- Brye, K.R., S.T. Gower, J.M. Norman, and L.G. Bundy. 2002. Carbon budgets for a prairie and agroecosystems: effects of land use and interannual variability. Ecological Applications 12(4):962-979.
- Buol, S.W., F.D. Hole, and R.J. McCracken. 1980. Soil Genesis and Classification 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. The Iowa State University Press, Ames, Iowa.
- Burke, I.C., W.K. Lauenroth, and D.P. Coffin. 1995. Soil organic matter recovery in semiarid grasslands: implications for the conservation reserve program. Ecological Applications 5(3):793-801.
- Burke, I.C., C.M. Yonker, W.J. Parton, C.V. Cole, K. Flach, and D.S. Schimel. 1989. Texture, climate, and cultivation effects on soil organic matter content in U.S. grassland soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal 53:800-805.
- Cambardella, C.A. and E.T. Elliot. 1992. Particulate soil organic-matter changes across a grassland cultivation sequence. Soil Science Society of America Journal 56:777-783.
- Campbell, C.A. 1978. Soil organic carbon, nitrogen and fertility. p. 173-271 in M. Schnitzer, and S.U. Khan (ed.) Soil Organic Matter. Development in Soil Science 8. Elsevier Scientific Publications Company, Amsterdam.
- Campbell, C.A., V.O. Biederbeck, B.G. McConkey, D. Curtin, and R.P. Zenter. 1999. Soil quality effect of tillage and fallow frequency. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 31:1-7.
- Cerri, C.C., B. Volkoff, F. Andreaux, P.R. Leopoldo. 1991. Nature and behaviour of organic matter in soils under natural forests, and after deforestation, burning and cultivation, near Manaus. Forest Ecology and Management 38:247-257.
- Cerri, C.E.P., M. Bernoux, V. Chaplot, B. Volkoff, R.L. Victoria, J.M. Melillo, K. Paustian, and C.C. Cerri. 2004. Assessment of soil property spatial variation in an Amazon pasture: basis for selecting an agronomic experimental area. Geoderma 123:51-68.
- Davidson, E.A., and I.L. Ackerman. 1993. Changes in soil carbon inventories following cultivation of previously untilled soils. Biogeochemistry 20:161-193.

- Dick, W.A. 1983. Organic Carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorous concentrations and pH in soil profiles as affected by tillage intensity. Soil Science Society of America journal 47:102-107.
- Dixon, R.K., S. Brown, R.A. Houghton, A.M. Solomon, M.C. Trexler, and J. Wisniewski. 1994. Carbon pools and flux of global forest ecosystems. Science 263:185-190.
- Dokuchaev, V.V. 1949. Contribution to the theory of natural zones. Izbrannye Sochineniya 3:317-329.
- Donahue, R.L., R.W. Miller, J.C. Shickluna. 1977. An introduction to soils and plant growth 4<sup>th</sup> ed. Prentice-Hall Inc., Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey.
- Doran, J.W. 1980. Soil microbial and biochemical changes associated with reduced tillage. Soil Science Society of America Journal 44:765-771.
- Doran, J.W. and M.R. Werner. 1990. Management and soil biology. p. 205-230 in C.A. Francis, C.B. Flora, and L.D. King (ed.) Sustainable agriculture in temperate zones. John Wiley and Sons, New York, New York, USA.
- Elliott, E.T. 1986. Aggregate structure and carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorous in native and cultivated soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal 50:627-633.
- El-Swaify, S.A., W.C. Moldenhauer, and A. Lo. 1985. Soil erosion and conservation. Soil Conservation Society of America, Ankeny, IA.
- Eswaran, H., E. Van Den Berg, and P. Reich. 1993. Organic carbon in soils of the world. Soil Science Society of America Journal 57:192-194.
- Falkowski, P., R.J. Scholes, E. Boyle, J. Canadell, D. Canfield, J. Elser, N. Gruber,
  K. Hibbard, P. Hogberg, S. Linder, F.T. Mackenzie, B. Moore III, T. Pedersen,
  Y. Rosenthal, S. Seitzinger, V. Smetacek, and W. Steffen. 2000. The global
  carbon cycle: a test of our knowledge of earth as a system. Science 290:291-296.
- Franzluebbers, A.J., J.A. Stuedemann, H.H. Schomberg, and S.R. Wilkinson. 2000. Soil organic C and N pools under long-term pasture management in the Southern Piedmont USA. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 32:469-478.
- Gade, D.W. 1978. Windbreaks in the lower Rhone Valley. Geographical Review 68(2):127-144.
- Gale, W.J. and C.A. Cambardella. 2000. Carbon dynamics of surface residue-and rootderived organic matter under simulated no-till. Soil Science Society of America Journal 64:190-195.

- Gregorich, E.G., K.J. Greer, D.W. Anderson, and B.C. Liang. 1998. Carbon distribution and losses: erosion and deposition effects. Soil and Tillage Research 47:291-302.
- Guo, L.B. and R.M. Gifford. 2002. Soil carbon stocks and land use change: a meta analysis. Global Change Biology 8:345-360.
- Haas, H.J., C.E. Evans, and E.F. Miles. 1957. Nitrogen and carbon changes in Great Plains soils as influenced by cropping and soil treatments. USDA Technical Bulletin 1164. U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC., USA.
- Halvorson, A.D., B.J. Wienhold, and A.L. Black. 2002. Tillage, nitrogen, and cropping system effects on soil carbon sequestration. Soil Science Society of America Journal 66:906-912.
- Hamburg, S.P. 1984. Effects of forest growth on soil nitrogen and organic matter pools following release from subsistence farming. p. 145-158 in E.L. Stone (ed.) Forest Soils and Treatment Impacts, Proceedings of Sixth North American Forest Soils Conference, University of Tennessee, Knoxville, TN, June 1983.
- Harris, D., W.R. Horwath, and C. Van Kessel. 2001. Acid fumigation of soils to remove carbonates prior to total organic carbon or carbon-13 isotopic analysis. Soil Science Society of America Journal 65:1853-1856.
- Hide, J.C. and W.H. Metzger. 1939. The effect of cultivation and erosion on the nitrogen and carbon of some Kansas soils. Journal of the American Society of Agronomy 31:625-632.
- Hooker, T.D. and J.E. Compton. 2003. Forest ecosystem carbon and nitrogen accumulation during the first century after agricultural abandonment. Ecological Applications 13(2):299-313.
- Houghton, R.A., R.D. Boone, J.R. Fruci, J.E. Hobbie, J.M. Melillo, C.A. Palm, B.J. Peterson, G.R. Shaver, and G.M. Woodwell. 1987. The flux of carbon from terrestrial ecosystems to the atmosphere in 1980 due to changes in land use: geographic distribution of the global flux. Tellus 39B:122-139.
- Houghton, R.A., R.D. Boone, J.M. Melillo, C.A. Palm, G.M. Woodwell, N. Myers, B. Moore, and D.L. Skole. 1985. Net flux of carbon dioxide from terrestrial tropical forests in 1980. Nature 316:617-620.
- Howe, J.A.G. 1986. One hundred years of prairie forestry. Prairie Forum 11(2):243-251.
- Hussain, I., K.R. Olson, and S.A. Ebelhar. 1999. Long-term tillage effects on soil chemical properties and organic matter fractions. Soil Science Society of America Journal 63:1335-1341.

- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. 1995. Scientific assessments of climate change. The policymaker's summary of Working class group 1 to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, WMO/UNEP.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. 2001. Climate change: the scientific basis. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Ivanov, V.A. 1991. Report on 100 years of observations at Stone [Kamennaya] Steppe National Park. Kamennaya Steppe: reprint (in Russian).
- Jenkinson, D.S. 1970. The accumulation of organic matter in soil left uncultivated. Commonwealth Bureau of Soil Science. Rothamsted Experimental Station Report for 1970, part 2:113-137.
- Jenkinson, D.S. 1990. The turnover of organic carbon and nitrogen in soil. Philosophical Transaction of the Royal Society, London B 329(1255):361-368.
- Jenkinson D.S. 1991. The Rothamsted long-term experiments: are they still of use? Journal of the American Society of Agronomy 83:2-10.
- Jenny, H. 1933. Soil fertility losses under Missouri conditions. Missouri Agricultural Experiment Station Bulletin 324.
- Jenny, H. 1941. Factors of Soil Formation. McGraw-Hill Publishing Company, New York, (reprinted 1994 by Dover Press).
- Jenny, H. 1980. The soil resource, origin and behavior. Ecological Studies Vol. 37. Springer Verlag, New York.
- Jobbagy, E.G. and R.B. Jackson. 2000. The vertical distribution of soil organic carbon and its relation to climate and vegetation. Ecological Applications 10:423-436.
- Johnson, D.W. 1992. Effects of forest management on soil carbon storage. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 64:83-120.
- Johnson, D.W., G.S. Henderson, and D.E. Todd. 1988. Changes in nutrient distribution in forests and soils of Walker Branch Watershed, Tennessee, over an eleven-year period. Biogeochemistry 5:275-293.
- Karl, T.R. and K.E. Trenberth. 2003. Modern global climate change. Science 302:1719-1723.
- Keeling, C.D. 1997. Climate change and carbon dioxide: an introduction. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 94(16):8273-8274.

- Kelly, J.M. and P.A. Mays. 2005. Soil carbon changes after 26 years in a Cumberland plateau hardwood forest. Soil Science Society of America Journal 69:691-694.
- Kerr, R.A. 1992. Fugitive carbon dioxide: it's not hiding in the ocean. Science, New Series 256(5053):35.
- Knoepp, J.D. and W.T. Swank. 1997. Forest management effects on surface soil carbon and nitrogen. Soil Science Society of America Journal 61:928-935.
- Kort, J. 1988. Benefits of windbreaks to field and forage crops. Agriculture, Ecosystems, and Environment 22/23:165-190
- Kuhns, M. 1998. Windbreak benefits and design. Utah Forest Facts. Utah State University Extension.
- Lal, R. 2004. Soil carbon sequestration to mitigate climate change. Geoderma 123:1-22.
- Lal, R., J. Kimble, C.V. Coke, and R. Follett. 1998. The potential of US cropland to sequester carbon and mitigate the greenhouse effect. Ann Arbor Press, Ann Arbor.
- Lal, R. and B.A. Stewart. 1990. Soil degradation. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Lapenis, A.G., M.S. Torn, J.W. Harden, K. Hollocker, B.V. Babikov, A.I. Timofeev, M.I. Hornberger, and R. Nattis. 2000. Scientists unearth clues to soil contamination by comparing old and new soil samples. Eos, Transactions, American Geophysical Union 81(6):53, 59-60.
- Lugo, A.E., A.J. Sanchez, and S. Brown. 1986. Land use and organic carbon content of some subtropical soils. Plant Soil 96:185-196.
- Meurk, C.D. 1978. Alpine phytomass and primary productivity in Central Otago, New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Ecology 1:27-50.
- Mikhailova, E.A., R.B. Bryant, D.J.R. Cherney, C.J. Post, and I.I. Vassenev. 2000a. Botanical composition, soil and forage quality under different management regimes in Russian grasslands. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 80:213-226.
- Mikhailova, E.A., R.B. Bryant, I.I. Vassenev, S.J. Schwager, and C.J. Post. 2000b. Cultivation effects on soil carbon and nitrogen contents at depth in the Russian Chernozem. Soil Science Society of America Journal 64:738-745.
- Miller, A.J., R. Amundson, I.C. Burke, and C. Yonker. 2004. The effect of climate and cultivation on soil organic carbon and nitrogen. Biogeochemistry 67:57-72.

- Miller, R.W. and R.L. Donahue. 1990. Soils: and Introduction to Soils and Plant Growth, 6<sup>th</sup> ed. Prentice Hall Inc, New Jersey, USA.
- Myers, N. 1993. Gaia: an atlas of planet management. Anchor and Doubleday, Garden City, NY.
- Neill, C. and E.A. Davidson. 1999. Soil carbon accumulation or loss following deforestation for pasture in the Brazilian Amazon. p. 197-212 in R. Lal, J.M. Kimble, B.A. Stewart (ed.) Global Climate Change and Tropical Ecosystems. CRC Press LLC, Boca Raton, Florida, USA.
- O'Brien, B.J. 1984. Soil organic carbon fluxes and turnover rates estimated from radiocarbon enrichments. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 16:115-120.
- Office of Technology Assessment. 1982. Impacts of technology on U.S. cropland and rangeland productivity. U.S. Congress Office of Technology Assessment, Washington, DC.
- Perruchoud, D., L. Walthert, S. Zimmermann, and P. Luscher. 2000. Biogeochemistry 50:111-136.
- Pimentel, D., C. Harvey, P. Resosudarmo, K. Sinclair, D. Kurz, M. McNair, S. Crist, L. Shpritz, L. Fitton, R. Saffouri, R. Blair. 1995. Environmental and economic costs of soil erosion and conservation. Science New Series 267(5201):1117-1123.
- Post, W.M. and K.C. Kwon. 2000. Soil carbon sequestration and land-use change: processes and potential. Global Change Biology 6:317-327.
- Prentice, I.C. 2001. The carbon cycle and the atmospheric carbon dioxide. Climate Change 2001: the Scientific Basis. p. 183-237 in Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Prentice, C., M. Heimann, and S. Sitch. 2000. The carbon balance of the terrestrial biosphere: ecosystem models and atmospheric observations. Ecological Applications 10(6):1553-1573.
- Pulleman, M.M., J. Bouma, E.A. van Essen, and E.W. Meijles. 2000. Soil organic matter content as a function of different land use history. Soil Science Society of America Journal 64:689-693.
- Raich, J.W. and K.J. Nadelhoffer. 1989. Belowground carbon allocation in forest ecosystems: global trends. Ecology 70(5):1346-1354.

- Rhoades, C.C., G.E. Eckert, and D.C. Coleman. 2000. Soil carbon differences among forest, agriculture, and secondary vegetation in lower montane Ecuador. Ecological Applications 10(2):497-505.
- Richter, D.D., D. Markewitz, S.E. Trumbore, and C.G. Wells. 1999. Rapid accumulation and turnover of soil carbon in a re-establishing forest. Nature (London) 400:56-58.
- Robles, M.D. and I.C. Burke. 1997. Legume, grass, and conservation reserve program effects on soil organic matter recovery. Ecological Applications 7(2):345-357.
- Rodionov, A., W. Amelung, I. Urusevskaja, and W. Zech. 2001. Origin of the enriched labile fraction (ELF) in Russian Chernozems with different site history. Geoderma 102:299-315.
- Ross, D.J., K.R. Tate, N.A. Scott, and C.W. Feltham. 1999. Land-use change: effects on soil carbon, nitrogen and phosphorous pools and fluxes in three adjacent ecosystems. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 31:803-813.
- Russell, G. and J. Grace. 1979. The effect of shelter on the yield of grasses in southern Scotland. The Journal of Applied Ecology 16(1):319-330.
- Rustad, L.E., T.G. Huntington, and R.D. Boone. 2000. Controls on soil respiration: implications for climate change. Biogeochemistry 48:1-6.
- Schimel, D.S., B.H. Braswell, Jr., E.A. Holland, R. McKeown, D.S. Ojima, T.H. Painter, W.J. Parton, and A.R. Townsend. 1994. Climatic, edaphic and biotic controls over storage and turnover of carbon in soils. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 8(3):279-293.
- Schlesinger, W.H. 1984. Soil organic matter: a source of atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>. p. 111-127 in G.M. Woodwell (ed.) The Role of Terrestrial Vegetation in the Global Carbon Cycle. John Wiley, New York.
- Schlesinger, W.H. 1986. Changes in soil carbon storage and associated properties with disturbance and recovery. p. 194-220 in J.R. Trabalka and D.E. Reichle (ed.) The changing carbon cycle. Springer-Verlag, New York, New York, USA.
- Schlesinger, W.H. 1997. Biogeochemistry: an analysis of global change 2<sup>nd</sup> ed., Academic Press.
- Schlesinger, W.H. and J.A. Andrews. 2000. Soil respiration and the global carbon cycle. Biogeochemistry 48:7-20.

- Scott, N.A., K.R. Tate, J. Ford-Robertson, D.J. Giltrap, and C.T. Smith. 1999. Soil carbon storage in plantation forests and pastures: land-use change implications. Tellus 51B:326-335.
- Scott, N.A., K.R. Tate, D.J. Giltrap, C. T. Smith, R.H. Wilde, P.F.J. Newsome, and M.R. Davis. 2002. Monitoring land-use change effects on soil carbon in New Zealand: quantifying baseline soil carbon stocks. Environmental Pollution 116:S167-S186.
- Sentsova, N.I. 2002. Spatial and temporal variations in the formation of the Kamennaya Steppe water regime. Water Resources 29(6):622-625.
- Shevtsova, L., V. Romanenkov, O. Sirotenko, and S. Kanzyvaa. 2003. Transformation study in arable soils based on long-term experiments in Russia: historical experience and international co-operation. Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science 49:485-502.
- Six, J., E.T. Elliot, K. Paustian, and J.W. Doran. 1998. Aggregation and soil organic matter accumulation in cultivated and native grassland soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal 62:1367-1377.
- Slobodian, N., K. Van Rees, and D. Pennock. 2002. Cultivation-induced effects on belowground biomass and organic carbon. Soil Science Society of America Journal 66:924-930.
- Smethurst, P.J. and E.K.S. Nambiar. 1990. Effects of slash and litter management on fluxes of nitrogen and tree growth in a young *Pinus radiata* plantation. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 20:(1)1498-1507.
- Sutherland, F. 1986. Giving southland some breaks. Soil and Water 22(2):14-15.
- Syers, J.K., J.A. Adams, and T.W. Walter. 1970. Accumulation of organic matter in a chronosequence of soils developed on windblown sand in New Zealand. Journal of Soil Science 21:146-153.
- Tate, K.R. 1992. Assessment, based on a climosequence of soils in tussock grasslands, of soil carbon storage and release in response to global warming. Journal of Soil Science 43:697-707.
- Tate, K.R., D.J. Giltrap, J.J. Claydon, P.F. Newsome, I.A.E. Atkinson, and R. Lee. 1993. Estimation of carbon in New Zealand's terrestrial ecosystems. Manaaki Whenua-Landcare Research New Zealand Ltd. Report.
- Tate, K.R., A. Parshotam, D.J. Ross. 1995. Soil carbon storage and turnover in temperate forests and grasslands-a New Zealand perspective. Journal of Biogeography 22(4/5):695-700.

- Tiessen, H. and W.B. Stewart. 1983. Particle-size fractions and their use in studies of soil organic matter. II. Cultivation effects on organic matter composition in size fractions. Soil Science Society of America Journal 47:509-514.
- Tiessen, H.J., W.B. Stewart, and J.R. Bettany. 1982. Cultivation effects on the amounts and concentrations of carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorous in grassland soils. Agronomy Journal 74:831-835.
- Tivy, J. 1987. Nutrient cycling in agroecosystems. Applied Geography 7:93-113.
- Torn, M.S., A.G. Lapenis, A. Timofeev, M.L. Fischer, B.V. Babikov, and J.W. Harden. 2002. Organic carbon and carbon isotopes in modern and 100-year-old-soil archives of the Russian steppe. Global Change Biology 8:941-953.
- Townsend, A.R., P.M. Vitousek, and S.E. Trumbore. 1995. Soil organic matter dynamics along gradients in temperature and land use on the island of Hawaii. Ecology 76(3):721-733.
- Trettin, C.C., D.W. Johnson, and D.E. Todd, Jr. 1999. Forest nutrient and carbon pools at Walker Branch Watershed: changes during a 21-year period. Soil Science Society of America Journal 63:1436-1448.
- Troeh, F.R., J.A. Hobbs, R.L. Donahue. 1991. Soil and water conservation. Prentice-Hall, Englewood, Cliffs, NJ.
- Trumbore, S.E. 1997. Potential responses of soil organic carbon to global environmental change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 94(16):8284-8291.
- Trumbore, S.E., O.A. Chadwick, and R. Amundson. 1996. Rapid exchange between soil carbon and atmospheric carbon dioxide driven by temperature change. Science New Series 272(5260):393-396.
- Turner, J. and J. Kelly. 1977. Soil chemical properties under naturally regenerated *Eucalyptus* spp. and planted Douglas-fir. Australia Journal of Forest Research 7:163-172.
- Turner, J. and M. Lambert. 2000. Change in organic carbon in forest plantation soils in eastern Australia. Forest Ecology and Management 133:231-247.
- van Ginkel, J.H. and A. Gorissen. 1998. In situ decomposition of grass roots as affected by elevated atmospheric carbon dioxide. Soil Science Society of America Journal 62:951-958.

- Van Veen, J.A. and E.A. Paul. 1981. Organic carbon dynamics in grassland soils. I. background information and computer simulation. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 61(2):185-201.
- Wilde, S.A. 1964. Changes in soil productivity induced by pine plantations. Soil Science 97:276-278.
- Wilson, A.T. 1978. The explosion of pioneer agriculture: contribution to the global CO<sub>2</sub> increase. Nature 273:40-42.
- Wood, C.W., D.G. Westfall, and G.A. Peterson. 1991. Soil carbon and nitrogen changes on initiation of no-till cropping systems. Soil Science Society of America Journal 55:470-476.

Sample Pits	Location	Coordi	inates
Pit 2 (Meadow Steppe)	110 m east of planted forest	51 01 55.0 N	40 43 45.0 E
Pit 3 (Meadow Steppe)	115 m east of planted forest	51 01 53.4 N	40 43 46.3 E
Pit 4 (Planted Forest)	25 m inside planted forest, east side	51 01 53.4 N	40 43 46.3 E
Pit 6 (Planted Forest)	25 m inside planted forest, west side	51 01 50.2N	40 43 32.1 E
Pit 9 (Tilled Field)	78 m from planted forest		

Table I Location and coordinates of the modern soil pits sampled in each land use. The locations of the pits are relative to the planted forest. There are no coordinates available for pit 9 (tilled field) and no data available for pit 10 from the tilled field (not included).

Pit 2 (Meadow Steppe)           15 $0.87$ 30 $0.98$ 50 $0.92$ 63 $1.00$ 80 $1.10$ 130 $1.14$ Pit 3 (Meadow Steppe) $1.14$ Pit 3 (Meadow Steppe) $0.77$ 15 $0.77$ 35 $0.95$ 70 $0.93$ 90 $1.03$ 120 $1.05$ Pit 4 (Planted Forest) $1.5$ 15 $0.83$ 40 $0.90$ 60 $0.98$ 85 $0.88$ 110 $0.96$ Pit 6 (Planted Forest) $20$ 20 $0.80$ 40 $0.99$ 60 $0.92$ 95 $1.04$ 115 $0.98$ 60 $0.89$ 82 $1.05$ 110 $1.10$ Pit 10 (Tilled Field) $15$ 15 $0.97$ <th>Sample Depth (cm)</th> <th>Bulk density (g/cm3)</th>	Sample Depth (cm)	Bulk density (g/cm3)
Pit 2 (Meadow Steppe)         15 $0.87$ 30 $0.98$ 50 $0.92$ 63 $1.00$ 80 $1.10$ 130 $1.14$ Pit 3 (Meadow Steppe)         15 $0.77$ 35 $0.95$ 70 $0.93$ 90 $1.03$ 120 $1.05$ Pit 4 (Planted Forest)         15 $0.83$ 40 $0.90$ 60 $0.98$ 85 $0.88$ 110 $0.96$ Pit 6 (Planted Forest)         20 $0.80$ 40 $0.99$ 60 $0.92$ 95 $1.04$ 115 $1.07$ Pit 9 (Tilled Field)         15 $0.98$ 60 $0.89$ 82 $1.05$ 110 $1.10$ Pit 10 (Tilled Field)         15 $55$ $0.97$ 80 $0.98$ $0.98$ </td <td></td> <td></td>		
15 $0.87$ 30 $0.98$ 50 $0.92$ 63 $1.00$ 80 $1.10$ 130 $1.14$ Pit 3 (Meadow Steppe)         15 $0.77$ 35 $0.95$ 70 $0.93$ 90 $1.03$ 120 $1.05$ Pit 4 (Planted Forest)         15 $0.83$ 40 $0.90$ 60 $0.98$ 85 $0.88$ 110 $0.96$ Pit 6 (Planted Forest)         20 $0.80$ 40 $0.99$ 60 $0.92$ 95 $1.04$ 115 $1.07$ Pit 9 (Tilled Field)         15 $0.98$ 60 $0.98$ 60 $0.89$ 82 $1.05$ 110 $1.10$ 15 $35$ 35 $0.97$ 80 $0.98$ 100 $1.11$ </td <td>Pit 2 (Meadow Steppe)</td> <td></td>	Pit 2 (Meadow Steppe)	
30       0.98 $50$ 0.92 $63$ 1.00 $80$ 1.10 $130$ 1.14         Pit 3 (Meadow Steppe) $15$ 0.77 $35$ 0.95 $70$ 0.93 $90$ 1.03 $120$ 1.05         Pit 4 (Planted Forest) $15$ 0.83 $40$ 0.90 $60$ 0.98 $85$ 0.88 $110$ 0.96         Pit 6 (Planted Forest) $20$ 0.80 $40$ 0.99 $60$ 0.92 $95$ 1.04 $115$ 1.07         Pit 9 (Tilled Field) $15$ 0.98 $60$ 0.98 $60$ 0.89 $82$ 1.05 $110$ 1.10         Pit 10 (Tilled Field) $15$ 35 $355$ 0.89 $55$ 0.97 $80$ <	15	0.87
50 $0.92$ $63$ $1.00$ $80$ $1.10$ $130$ $1.14$ <b>Pit 3 (Meadow Steppe)</b> $1.14$ <b>Pit 3 (Meadow Steppe)</b> $1.14$ <b>Pit 3 (Meadow Steppe)</b> $0.77$ $35$ $0.95$ $70$ $0.93$ $90$ $1.03$ $120$ $1.05$ <b>Pit 4 (Planted Forest)</b> $0.80$ $40$ $0.90$ $60$ $0.98$ $85$ $0.88$ $110$ $0.96$ <b>Pit 6 (Planted Forest)</b> $20$ $20$ $0.80$ $40$ $0.99$ $60$ $0.92$ $95$ $1.04$ $115$ $1.07$ <b>Pit 9 (Tilled Field)</b> $1.10$ $15$ $0.98$ $60$ $0.89$ $82$ $1.05$ $110$ $1.10$ <b>Pit 10 (Tilled Field)</b> $1.10$ $15$ $55$ $0.97$ $80$ $0.98$ $100$ $1.11$	30	0.98
63       1.00 $80$ 1.10 $130$ 1.14 <b>Pit 3 (Meadow Steppe)</b> 1 $15$ 0.77 $35$ 0.95 $70$ 0.93 $90$ 1.03 $120$ 1.05 <b>Pit 4 (Planted Forest)</b> 1 $15$ 0.83 $40$ 0.90 $60$ 0.98 $85$ 0.88 $110$ 0.96 <b>Pit 6 (Planted Forest)</b> 20 $20$ 0.80 $40$ 0.99 $60$ 0.92 $95$ 1.04 $115$ 1.07 <b>Pit 9 (Tilled Field)</b> 1 $15$ 0.98 $60$ 0.89 $82$ 1.05 $110$ 1.10 <b>Pit 10 (Tilled Field)</b> 1.10 $15$ 0.89 $55$ 0.97 $80$ 0.98 $100$ 1.11	50	0.92
80       1.10         130       1.14 <b>Pit 3 (Meadow Steppe)</b> 15       0.77         35       0.95         70       0.93         90       1.03         120       1.05 <b>Pit 4 (Planted Forest)</b> 15       0.83         40       0.90         60       0.98         85       0.88         110       0.96 <b>Pit 6 (Planted Forest)</b> 20         20       0.80         40       0.99         60       0.92         95       1.04         115       1.07 <b>Pit 9 (Tilled Field)</b> 15       0.98         60       0.89         82       1.05         110       1.10 <b>Pit 10 (Tilled Field)</b> 15       35         35       0.89         95       0.97         80       0.98         110       1.11	63	1.00
130       1.14         Pit 3 (Meadow Steppe)       15         15       0.77         35       0.95         70       0.93         90       1.03         120       1.05         Pit 4 (Planted Forest)       1         15       0.83         40       0.90         60       0.98         85       0.88         110       0.96         Pit 6 (Planted Forest)       20         20       0.80         40       0.99         60       0.92         95       1.04         115       1.07         Pit 9 (Tilled Field)       1         15       0.98         60       0.89         82       1.05         110       1.10         Pit 10 (Tilled Field)       1.10         15       1.5         35       0.89         55       0.97         80       0.98         110       1.11	80	1.10
Pit 3 (Meadow Steppe)15 $0.77$ 35 $0.95$ 70 $0.93$ 90 $1.03$ 120 $1.05$ Pit 4 (Planted Forest)15 $0.83$ 40 $0.90$ 60 $0.98$ 85 $0.88$ 110 $0.96$ Pit 6 (Planted Forest)20 $0.80$ 40 $0.99$ 60 $0.92$ 95 $1.04$ 115 $1.07$ Pit 9 (Tilled Field)15 $0.98$ 60 $0.89$ 82 $1.05$ 110 $1.10$ Pit 10 (Tilled Field)15 $35$ $35$ $0.89$ $55$ $0.97$ $80$ $0.98$ $110$ $1.11$	130	1.14
15 $0.77$ 35 $0.95$ 70 $0.93$ 90 $1.03$ 120 $1.05$ Pit 4 (Planted Forest)         15 $0.83$ 40 $0.90$ 60 $0.98$ 85 $0.88$ 110 $0.96$ Pit 6 (Planted Forest)         20 $0.80$ 40 $0.99$ 60 $0.92$ 95 $1.04$ 115 $1.07$ Pit 9 (Tilled Field)         15 $0.98$ 60 $0.89$ 82 $1.05$ 110 $1.10$ Pit 10 (Tilled Field)         15 $35$ $0.89$ 55 $0.97$ 80 $0.98$ 110 $1.11$	Pit 3 (Meadow Steppe)	
35       0.95 $70$ 0.93 $90$ 1.03 $120$ 1.05 <b>Pit 4 (Planted Forest)</b> $15$ 0.83 $40$ 0.90 $60$ 0.98 $85$ 0.88 $110$ 0.96 <b>Pit 6 (Planted Forest)</b> 20 $20$ 0.80 $40$ 0.99 $60$ 0.92 $95$ 1.04 $115$ 1.07 <b>Pit 9 (Tilled Field)</b> 1 $15$ 0.98 $60$ 0.89 $82$ 1.05 $110$ 1.10 <b>Pit 10 (Tilled Field)</b> 1 $15$ 0.89 $55$ 0.97 $80$ 0.98 $110$ 1.11	15	0.77
70 $0.93$ $90$ $1.03$ $120$ $1.05$ <b>Pit 4 (Planted Forest)</b> $1.05$ $15$ $0.83$ $40$ $0.90$ $60$ $0.98$ $85$ $0.88$ $110$ $0.96$ <b>Pit 6 (Planted Forest)</b> $20$ $20$ $0.80$ $40$ $0.99$ $60$ $0.92$ $95$ $1.04$ $115$ $1.07$ <b>Pit 9 (Tilled Field)</b> $1.07$ <b>Pit 9 (Tilled Field)</b> $1.05$ $10$ $0.98$ $60$ $0.89$ $82$ $1.05$ $110$ $1.10$ <b>Pit 10 (Tilled Field)</b> $1.10$ $15$ $0.89$ $55$ $0.97$ $80$ $0.98$ $110$ $1.11$	35	0.95
90       1.03         120       1.05 <b>Pit 4 (Planted Forest)</b> 15       0.83         40       0.90         60       0.98         85       0.88         110       0.96 <b>Pit 6 (Planted Forest)</b> 20       0.80         40       0.99         60       0.92         95       1.04         115       1.07 <b>Pit 9 (Tilled Field)</b> 15       0.98         60       0.98         60       0.89         82       1.05         110       1.10 <b>Pit 10 (Tilled Field)</b> 15       0.89         55       0.97         80       0.98         110       1.11	70	0.93
120       1.05 <b>Pit 4 (Planted Forest)</b> 15       0.83         40       0.90         60       0.98         85       0.88         110       0.96 <b>Pit 6 (Planted Forest)</b> 20       0.80         40       0.99         60       0.92         95       1.04         115       1.07 <b>Pit 9 (Tilled Field)</b> 15       0.98         60       0.89         82       1.05         110       1.10 <b>Pit 10 (Tilled Field)</b> 15       0.89         55       0.97         80       0.98         110       1.11	90	1.03
Pit 4 (Planted Forest)15 $0.83$ 40 $0.90$ 60 $0.98$ 85 $0.88$ 110 $0.96$ Pit 6 (Planted Forest)20 $0.80$ 40 $0.99$ 60 $0.92$ 95 $1.04$ 115 $1.07$ Pit 9 (Tilled Field)15 $0.98$ 60 $0.89$ 82 $1.05$ 110 $1.10$ Pit 10 (Tilled Field)15 $0.89$ 82 $1.05$ 110 $1.10$ Pit 10 (Tilled Field) $1.10$ 15 $0.89$ 55 $0.97$ 80 $0.98$ 110 $1.11$	120	1.05
15       0.83         40       0.90         60       0.98         85       0.88         110       0.96         Pit 6 (Planted Forest)         20       0.80         40       0.99         60       0.92         95       1.04         115       1.07         Pit 9 (Tilled Field)         15       0.98         60       0.98         60       0.98         60       0.89         82       1.05         110       1.10         Pit 10 (Tilled Field)         15       35         35       0.89         55       0.97         80       0.98         110       1.11	Pit 4 (Planted Forest)	
40       0.90         60       0.98         85       0.88         110       0.96         Pit 6 (Planted Forest)         20       0.80         40       0.99         60       0.92         95       1.04         115       1.07         Pit 9 (Tilled Field)         15       0.98         60       0.98         60       0.98         60       0.89         82       1.05         110       1.10         Pit 10 (Tilled Field)         15       35         35       0.89         55       0.97         80       0.98         110       1.11	15	0.83
60       0.98         85       0.88         110       0.96 <b>Pit 6 (Planted Forest)</b> 20       0.80         40       0.99         60       0.92         95       1.04         115       1.07 <b>Pit 9 (Tilled Field)</b> 15       0.98         40       0.98         60       0.89         82       1.05         110       1.10 <b>Pit 10 (Tilled Field)</b> 15       0.89         55       0.97         80       0.98         110       1.11	40	0.90
85       0.88         110       0.96         Pit 6 (Planted Forest)         20       0.80         40       0.99         60       0.92         95       1.04         115       1.07         Pit 9 (Tilled Field)         15       0.98         60       0.89         82       1.05         110       1.10         Pit 10 (Tilled Field)         15       35         35       0.89         55       0.97         80       0.98         110       1.11	60	0.98
110       0.96         Pit 6 (Planted Forest)       0.80         20       0.80         40       0.99         60       0.92         95       1.04         115       1.07         Pit 9 (Tilled Field)         15       0.98         60       0.98         60       0.89         82       1.05         110       1.10         Pit 10 (Tilled Field)         15       0.89         55       0.97         80       0.98         110       1.11	85	0.88
Pit 6 (Planted Forest) $20$ 0.80 $40$ 0.99 $60$ 0.92 $95$ 1.04 $115$ 1.07Pit 9 (Tilled Field) $15$ 0.98 $60$ 0.89 $82$ 1.05 $110$ 1.10Pit 10 (Tilled Field) $15$ 0.89 $55$ 0.97 $80$ 0.98 $110$ 1.11	110	0.96
20       0.80         40       0.99         60       0.92         95       1.04         115       1.07         Pit 9 (Tilled Field)         15       0.98         60       0.98         60       0.98         60       0.89         82       1.05         110       1.10         Pit 10 (Tilled Field)         15       35         35       0.89         55       0.97         80       0.98         110       1.11	Pit 6 (Planted Forest)	
40       0.99         60       0.92         95       1.04         115       1.07         Pit 9 (Tilled Field)         15       0.98         60       0.98         60       0.89         82       1.05         110       1.10         Pit 10 (Tilled Field)         15       0.89         55       0.97         80       0.98         110       1.11	20	0.80
60       0.92         95       1.04         115       1.07         Pit 9 (Tilled Field)         15       0.98         40       0.98         60       0.89         82       1.05         110       1.10         Pit 10 (Tilled Field)         15       0.89         55       0.97         80       0.98         110       1.11	40	0.99
95       1.04         115       1.07         Pit 9 (Tilled Field)       15         15       0.98         40       0.98         60       0.89         82       1.05         110       1.10         Pit 10 (Tilled Field)       15         35       0.89         55       0.97         80       0.98         110       1.11	60	0.92
115       1.07         Pit 9 (Tilled Field)       0.98         15       0.98         60       0.89         82       1.05         110       1.10         Pit 10 (Tilled Field)       1.10         15       0.89         55       0.97         80       0.98         110       1.11	95	1.04
Pit 9 (Tilled Field)         15       0.98         40       0.98         60       0.89         82       1.05         110       1.10         Pit 10 (Tilled Field)         15       35       0.89         55       0.97       0.98         110       1.11       1.11	115	1.07
15       0.98         40       0.98         60       0.89         82       1.05         110       1.10         Pit 10 (Tilled Field)         15       35       0.89         55       0.97       80       0.98         110       1.11       1.11	Pit 9 (Tilled Field)	
40 0.98 60 0.89 82 1.05 110 1.10 Pit 10 (Tilled Field) 15 35 0.89 55 0.97 80 0.98 110 1.11	15	0.98
60 0.89 82 1.05 110 1.10 Pit 10 (Tilled Field) 15 35 0.89 55 0.97 80 0.98 110 1.11	40	0.98
82 1.05 110 1.10 <b>Pit 10 (Tilled Field)</b> 15 35 0.89 55 0.97 80 0.98 110 1.11	60	0.89
110       1.10         Pit 10 (Tilled Field)       15         35       0.89         55       0.97         80       0.98         110       1.11	82	1.05
Pit 10 (Tilled Field)         15         35       0.89         55       0.97         80       0.98         110       1.11	110	1.10
15       35     0.89       55     0.97       80     0.98       110     1.11	Pit 10 (Tilled Field)	
35       0.89         55       0.97         80       0.98         110       1.11	15	
55     0.97       80     0.98       110     1.11	35	0.89
80 0.98 110 1 11	55	0.97
110 1 1 1	80	0.98
	110	1 11

Table II Bulk Density of the modern soil pits and the archived pristine soil pit at various sampling depths. Soil cores were taken (used to calculate bulk density) for the modern pits at particular sampling depths within each particular land use. The bulk densities of the pristine pit HRSC 1900 are assumed values from samples taken in 1997.

Sample Depth (cm)	Bulk density (g/cm3)
HRSC 1900 (Pristine)	
0-5	0.52
5-12	0.68
12-20	0.73
20-36	0.86
36-50	0.85
50-65	1.12
65-78	1.17
78-100	1.23
100-120	1.24
120-134	1.32

Table III Total carbon stocks and organic carbon stocks at various depth intervals from each land use type. Carbon stocks are summed to depth intervals of 0-20 cm, 0-50 cm, and 0-100 cm. There were no total carbon stock values for the archived site HRSC 1900 because data was lacking to calculate the carbon stock.

	Total Carbo	n (kg/m2)			Organic Car	bon (kg/m2)		
Depth interval (cm)	HRSC 1900	Meadow Steppe	Planted Forest	Tilled Field	HRSC 1900	Meadow Steppe	Planted Forest	Tilled Field
0.20		10.50	10.45	0.10	10.10	0.75	0.66	° 77
0-20		23.78	10.45 22.64	9.19 22.07	20.97	9.75 21.48	9.66 20.54	8.27 19.82
0-100		40.22	36.64	34.67	30.99	31.42	27.96	26.88

Depth interval (cm)	Carbonate (%)	Total Carbon (%)	Organic Carbon (%)
Pit 2 (Maadaw Stanna)			
0-10	-0.61	4 91	5 53
10-25	0.04	5.51	5.47
25-35	0.11	4.11	4.00
36-50	0.27	3.62	3.36
50-70	0.10	2.77	2.67
70-80	2.01	3.71	1.70
80-100	0.06	1.89	1.82
100-120	0.38	2.23	1.85
Pit 3 (Meadow Steppe)			
0-15	-0.65	5.22	5.87
15-30	0.23	5.31	5.08
30-45	-0.11	3.85	3.96
45-55	0.21	3.44	3.23
55-70	0.10	3.00	2.90
70-80	0.27	3.26	2.99
80-90	0.68	2.78	2.10
90-100	0.07	2.39	2.32
100-120	-0.01	1.72	1.72
120-140	-0.21	1.21	1.42
Pit 4 (Planted Forest)			
0-15	-1.06	4.87	5.94
15-35	-0.56	3.63	4.20
35-48	0.04	2.94	2.90
48-73	0.06	2.34	2.28
73-90	-0.80	1.65	2.45
90-110	-1.48	0.75	2.23
Pit 6 (Planted Forest)			
0-20	-1.83	3.14	4.97
20-35	-1.16	3.69	4.85
35-45	0.05	3.74	3.70
45-60	-0.03	2.90	2.93
60-80	0.62	2.83	2.22
80-100	0.93	3.01	2.07
100-115	0.17	2.59	2.41

Table IV Data set 1 concentrations of carbonate, total carbon, and organic carbon at various sampling depth intervals from pits in each of the different land uses. The carbonate concentrations in the modern samples (Pits 2, 3, 4, 6, 9, 10) were calculated from the difference of total carbon and organic carbon concentrations. Only organic carbon concentrations were available for the archived pristing site HRSC 1900.

Depth interval (cm)	Carbonate (%)	Total Carbon (%)	Organic Carbon (%)
Pit 9 (Tilled Field)			
0-10	0.42	4.38	3.96
10-25	0.12	4.37	4.25
20-50	0.17	4.00	3.83
50-70	0.11	2.46	2.35
70-95	-0.06	1.38	1.45
95-110	1.25	2.33	1.08
Pit 10 (Tilled Field)			
0-15	0.25	4.28	4.03
15-28	0.16	4.26	4.10
28-49	0.12	4.18	4.06
47-68	-0.13	2.73	2.87
68-96	1.25	2.50	1.26
96-115	0.95	2.33	1.38
HKSC 1900 (Prisune)			10.52
0-5			10.53
5-12			8.15
12-20			5.97
20-36			4.59
36-50			3.82
50-65			3.17
65-78			1.72
78-100			0.77
100-120			0.47
120-135			0.51

Table V Data set 2 concentrations of carbonate, total carbon, and organic carbon at various sampling depth intervals from pits in each of the different land uses. Carbonate concentrations and organic carbon concentrations are estimated for both the modern soil pits (Pits 2, 3, 4, 6, 9, 10) and archived soil pits (meadow steppe 1970, planted forest 1947, tilled field 1920). Carbonate concentrations were calculated form a total digest and the organic carbon concentrations were the difference of the total carbon concentrations and the carbonate concentrations.

Depth (cm)	Carbonate (%)	Total Carbon (%)	Organic Carbon (%)
Pit 2 (Meadow Steppe)			
0-3	0.52	7.71	7.20
3-6	0.51	7.37	6.86
6-15	0.45	6.92	6.47
15-25	0.47	5.75	5.29
25-30	0.55	5.09	4.54
30-38	0.52	4.60	4.08
38-48	0.58	4.09	3.51
48-58	0.57	3.74	3.17
58-68	0.54	3.24	2.70
68-73	0.61	2.65	2.04
73-78	0.57	2.34	1.77
78-95	1.38	2.43	1.04
95-125	1.86	2.52	0.65
125-145	1.80	2.24	0.44
Pit 3 (Meadow Steppe)			
3-6	0.50	7.50	7.00
6-10	0.51	7.54	7.02
10-20	0.52	6.59	6.06
20-30	0.54	5.39	4.84
30-40	0.53	4.48	3.95
40-50	0.57	4.28	3.71
50-55	0.56	4.04	3.48
55-65	0.56	3.50	2.94
65-75	0.77	3.85	3.08
75-80	1.24	3.52	2.27
80-95	1.97	3.00	1.03
95-105	2.00	2.77	0.77
105-115	2.30	2.55	0.25
115-145	2.22	2.30	0.08

Depth (cm)	Carbonate (%)	Total Carbon (%)	Organic Carbon (%)
			· · ·
Pit 4 (Planted Forest)			
0-3	0.52	8.63	8.10
3-6	0.48	6.98	6.50
6-10	0.51	5.63	5.12
10-20	0.55	4.96	4.41
20-30	0.39	4.65	4.26
30-40	0.53	3.94	3.41
40-47	0.53	3.69	3.16
47-52	0.46	3.19	2.74
52-62	0.50	2.68	2.18
62-67	0.64	2.76	2.12
67-72	0.92	2.36	1.44
72-83	1.75	2.71	0.96
83-93	2.10	2.59	0.49
93-118	2.07	2.34	0.27
118-138	1.91	2.12	0.21
Pit 6 (Planted Forest)			
3-6	0.49	9.42	8.94
6-10	0.50	9.04	8.54
10-20	0.53	7.32	6.79
20-30	0.42	5.34	4.92
30-39	0.49	4.82	4.33
39-43	0.52	4.52	4.00
43-48	0.47	4.34	3.88
48-58	0.53	3.88	3.35
58-67	0.55	3.11	2.57
67-77	1.36	3.05	1.69
77-101	1.94	3.03	1.09
101-115	2.21	2.94	0.74
115-130	2.36	2.64	0.28
Dit 0 (Tilled Field)			
r n 9 (r mea r rea)	0.50	5 13	1.63
0-3	0.50	5.15	4.05
3-0 ( 15	0.52	5.15	4.02
0-15 15 26	0.46	4.89	4.43
15-26	0.46	4.90	4.44
28-36	0.46	5.30	4.83
36-51	0.46	4.92	4.45
51-63	0.52	3.00	2.48
63-70 <b>7</b> 0	0.58	2.60	2.02
/0-80	0.61	1.75	1.15
80-95	0.60	1.45	0.85
95-120	2.21	2.60	0.39
120-140	2.34	2.57	0.23

Pir 10 (Tilled Field) $0-3$ $0.50$ $5.05$ $4.55$ $3-6$ $0.50$ $4.72$ $4.23$ $6-15$ $0.56$ $4.98$ $4.43$ $15-25$ $0.50$ $4.80$ $4.30$ $25-30$ $0.48$ $4.96$ $4.48$ $30.40$ $0.50$ $5.02$ $4.52$ $40.46$ $0.54$ $3.76$ $3.23$ $46-56$ $0.54$ $3.06$ $2.52$ $56-69$ $0.53$ $2.54$ $2.01$ $69.85$ $1.68$ $2.92$ $1.24$ $85.100$ $2.22$ $2.85$ $0.63$ $100-130$ $2.34$ $2.41$ $0.07$ $130-140$ $2.23$ $2.26$ $0.03$ Meadow Steppe (1970) $0-5$ $0.46$ $-510$ $5.20$ $0.56$ $5.31$ $4.75$ $20.25$ $0.46$ $4.78$ $4.31$ $25.30$ $0.54$ $4.93$ $3.99$ $30.35$ $0.44$ $4.38$ $3.95$ $35.40$ $0.48$ $4.45$ $3.97$ $40.45$ $0.51$ $4.15$ $3.64$ $45.50$ $0.55$ $3.55$ $3.00$ $50-60$ $0.90$ $3.40$ $2.50$ $60-70$ $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $70.80$ $2.49$ $3.28$ $0.79$ $80-90$ $2.55$ $3.10$ $0.55$ $90-100$ $2.51$ $2.95$ $0.44$ $70.80$ $0.56$ $4.37$ $3.86$ $10.15$ $0.58$ $4.30$ $3.72$ <th>Depth (cm)</th> <th>Carbonate (%)</th> <th>Total Carbon (%)</th> <th>Organic Carbon (%)</th>	Depth (cm)	Carbonate (%)	Total Carbon (%)	Organic Carbon (%)				
Pri to funce Freety $0.3$ $0.50$ $5.05$ $4.55$ $3.6$ $0.50$ $4.72$ $4.23$ $6-15$ $0.56$ $4.98$ $4.43$ $15.25$ $0.50$ $4.80$ $4.30$ $25.30$ $0.48$ $4.96$ $4.48$ $30.40$ $0.50$ $5.02$ $4.52$ $40.46$ $0.54$ $3.76$ $3.23$ $46.56$ $0.54$ $3.06$ $2.52$ $56.69$ $0.53$ $2.54$ $2.01$ $69.85$ $1.68$ $2.92$ $1.24$ $85.100$ $2.23$ $2.26$ $0.03$ $100-130$ $2.34$ $2.41$ $0.07$ $130-140$ $2.23$ $2.26$ $0.03$ Meadow Steppe (1970) $0.5$ $0.46$ $5.10$ $0.45$ $5.31$ $4.75$ $2.025$ $0.46$ $4.78$ $4.31$ $2.53$ $3.53$ $15-20$ $0.56$ $5.31$ $4.75$ $2.55$ $3.64$ $5.40$ $0.48$ $4.45$ $3.97$ $0.44$ $4.38$ $3.95$ $3.40$ $0.48$ $4.45$ $3.97$ $40.45$ $0.51$ $4.15$ $3.64$ $4.55$ $0.50$ $3.40$ $2.50$ $60.70$ $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $3.28$ $0.79$ $8.30$ $3.72$ $16.60$ $4.37$ $3.86$ $10.15$ $0.56$ $3.57$ $3.10$ $0.57$ $3.71$ $3.14$ $3.35$ $0.56$	D:4 10 (T!II - J T! - J J)							
0-3 $0.50$ $5.05$ $4.23$ $6-15$ $0.56$ $4.98$ $4.43$ $15.25$ $0.50$ $4.80$ $4.30$ $25.30$ $0.48$ $4.96$ $4.48$ $30.40$ $0.50$ $5.02$ $4.52$ $40.46$ $0.54$ $3.76$ $3.23$ $46.56$ $0.54$ $3.06$ $2.52$ $56.69$ $0.53$ $2.54$ $2.01$ $69.85$ $1.68$ $2.92$ $1.24$ $85.100$ $2.22$ $2.85$ $0.63$ $100-130$ $2.34$ $2.41$ $0.07$ $130.140$ $2.23$ $2.26$ $0.03$ Meadow Steppe (1970) $0.55$ $0.46$ $-75$ $5.10$ $0.46$ $6.60$ $6.14$ $10.15$ $0.49$ $5.83$ $5.35$ $15.20$ $0.56$ $5.31$ $4.75$ $20.25$ $0.46$ $4.78$ $4.31$ $25.30$ $0.51$ $4.15$ $3.64$ $40.45$ $0.$	Pit IV (Tilled Field)	0.50	5.05	4.55				
3-6         0.50         4.72         4.23           15-25         0.50         4.80         4.30           25-30         0.48         4.96         4.48           30-40         0.50         5.02         4.52           40-46         0.54         3.76         3.23           46-56         0.54         3.06         2.52           56-69         0.53         2.54         2.01           69-85         1.68         2.92         1.24           85-100         2.22         2.85         0.63           100-130         2.34         2.41         0.07           130-140         2.23         2.26         0.03           Meadow Steppe (1970)           0-5         0.46         -175           20-25         0.46         4.78         4.31           25-30         0.56         5.31         4.75           20-25         0.46         4.78         4.31           25-30         0.54         4.93         4.39           30-35         0.44         4.38         3.95           35-40         0.51         4.15         3.64           45-50         0.55 <td>0-3</td> <td>0.50</td> <td>5.05</td> <td>4.55</td>	0-3	0.50	5.05	4.55				
b-15 $0.50$ $4.98$ $4.43$ $15-25$ $0.50$ $4.80$ $4.30$ $25-30$ $0.48$ $4.96$ $4.48$ $30.40$ $0.50$ $5.02$ $4.52$ $40.46$ $0.54$ $3.76$ $3.23$ $46-56$ $0.53$ $2.54$ $2.01$ $69.85$ $1.68$ $2.92$ $1.24$ $85-100$ $2.22$ $2.85$ $0.63$ $100-130$ $2.34$ $2.41$ $0.07$ $130-140$ $2.23$ $2.26$ $0.03$ Meadow Steppe (1970) $0.5$ $0.46$ $-510$ $0.46$ $5-10$ $0.46$ $6.60$ $6.14$ $10-15$ $0.49$ $5.83$ $5.35$ $15-20$ $0.56$ $5.31$ $4.75$ $20-25$ $0.46$ $4.78$ $4.31$ $25-30$ $0.54$ $4.93$ $4.39$ $35-40$ $0.48$ $4.45$ $3.97$	3-0	0.50	4.72	4.23				
15-25 $0.50$ $4.80$ $4.30$ $25-30$ $0.48$ $4.96$ $4.48$ $30-40$ $0.50$ $5.02$ $4.52$ $40-46$ $0.54$ $3.76$ $3.23$ $46-56$ $0.54$ $3.06$ $2.52$ $56-69$ $0.53$ $2.54$ $2.01$ $69-85$ $1.68$ $2.92$ $1.24$ $85-100$ $2.22$ $2.85$ $0.63$ $100-130$ $2.34$ $2.41$ $0.07$ $130-140$ $2.23$ $2.26$ $0.03$ Meadow Steppe (1970) $0-5$ $0.46$ $-57$ $5-10$ $0.46$ $6.60$ $6.14$ $10-15$ $0.49$ $5.83$ $5.35$ $25.20$ $0.56$ $5.31$ $4.75$ $20-25$ $0.46$ $4.78$ $4.39$ $25-30$ $0.54$ $4.93$ $4.39$ $30.35$ $0.44$ $4.38$ $3.95$ $55-40$ $0.55$ $3.55$ $3.00$ $50-60$	0-15	0.56	4.98	4.43				
25-30 $0.45$ $4.95$ $4.45$ $40.46$ $0.50$ $5.02$ $4.52$ $40.46$ $0.54$ $3.76$ $3.23$ $46.56$ $0.54$ $3.06$ $2.52$ $56.69$ $0.53$ $2.54$ $2.01$ $69.85$ $1.68$ $2.92$ $1.24$ $85-100$ $2.22$ $2.85$ $0.63$ $100-130$ $2.34$ $2.41$ $0.07$ $130-140$ $2.23$ $2.26$ $0.03$ Meadow Steppe (1970) $0-5$ $0.46$ $5-10$ $0.46$ $6.60$ $5-10$ $0.46$ $6.63$ $10-15$ $0.49$ $5.83$ $5.20$ $0.56$ $5.31$ $4.75$ $0.25$ $20.25$ $0.46$ $4.78$ $4.31$ $25.30$ $0.54$ $4.93$ $4.39$ $3.99$ $30.35$ $0.44$ $4.38$ $3.95$ $55.40$ $0.55$ $3.55$ $3.00$ $50-60$ $0.90$ $3.40$ $2.50$ $60-70$ $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $70.80$ $2.49$ $3.28$ $0.79$ $80-90$ $2.55$ $3.10$ $0.55$ $90-100$ $2.51$ $2.95$ $0.44$ Hanted Forest (1947)UUO.55 $5.10$ $0.56$ $4.65$ $4.03$ $5-10$ $0.56$ $4.08$ $3.51$ $2.95$ $0.44$ <	15-25	0.50	4.80	4.30				
3040 $0.50$ $3.02$ $4.32$ $40.46$ $0.54$ $3.76$ $3.23$ $46-56$ $0.54$ $3.06$ $2.52$ $56-69$ $0.53$ $2.54$ $2.01$ $69.85$ $1.68$ $2.92$ $1.24$ $85-100$ $2.22$ $2.85$ $0.63$ $100-130$ $2.34$ $2.41$ $0.07$ $130-140$ $2.23$ $2.26$ $0.03$ Meadow Steppe (1970) $0.5$ $0.46$ $-5$ $5-10$ $0.46$ $6.60$ $6.14$ $10-15$ $0.49$ $5.83$ $5.35$ $15-20$ $0.56$ $5.31$ $4.75$ $20-25$ $0.46$ $4.78$ $4.31$ $25-30$ $0.54$ $4.93$ $4.39$ $30.35$ $0.44$ $4.38$ $3.95$ $35-40$ $0.55$ $3.55$ $3.00$ $50-60$ $0.90$ $3.40$ $2.50$ $60-70$ $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $70-80$ $2.$	25-50	0.48	4.90	4.48				
40-46 $0.54$ $3.76$ $5.25$ $46-56$ $0.53$ $2.54$ $2.01$ $69-85$ $1.68$ $2.92$ $1.24$ $85-100$ $2.22$ $2.85$ $0.63$ $100-130$ $2.34$ $2.41$ $0.07$ $130-140$ $2.23$ $2.26$ $0.03$ Meadow Steppe (1970) $0-5$ $0.46$ $-5.00$ $5-10$ $0.46$ $6.60$ $6.14$ $10-15$ $0.49$ $5.83$ $5.35$ $15-20$ $0.56$ $5.31$ $4.75$ $20-25$ $0.46$ $4.78$ $4.31$ $25-30$ $0.54$ $4.93$ $4.39$ $30.35$ $0.44$ $4.38$ $3.95$ $35-40$ $0.48$ $4.45$ $3.97$ $40-45$ $0.51$ $4.15$ $3.64$ $45-50$ $0.55$ $3.55$ $3.00$ $50-60$ $0.90$ $3.40$ $2.50$ $60-70$ $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $70-80$ <td< td=""><td>30-40</td><td>0.50</td><td>5.02</td><td>4.52</td></td<>	30-40	0.50	5.02	4.52				
40-30 $0.34$ $3.00$ $2.32$ $56-69$ $0.53$ $2.54$ $2.01$ $69-85$ $1.68$ $2.92$ $1.24$ $85-100$ $2.22$ $2.85$ $0.63$ $100-130$ $2.34$ $2.41$ $0.07$ $130-140$ $2.23$ $2.26$ $0.03$ Meadow Steppe (1970) $0-5$ $0.46$ $-600$ $6.14$ $10-15$ $0.49$ $5.83$ $5.35$ $15-20$ $0.56$ $5.31$ $4.75$ $20-25$ $0.46$ $4.78$ $4.31$ $25-30$ $0.54$ $4.93$ $3.95$ $35-40$ $0.48$ $4.45$ $3.97$ $40-45$ $0.51$ $4.15$ $3.64$ $45-50$ $0.55$ $3.55$ $3.00$ $50-60$ $0.90$ $3.40$ $2.50$ $60-70$ $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $70-80$ $2.49$ $3.28$ $0.79$ $80-90$ $2.55$ $3.10$ $3.55$	40-40	0.54	3.70	3.23				
$30-99$ $0.33$ $2.34$ $2.01$ $69-85$ $1.68$ $2.92$ $1.24$ $85\cdot100$ $2.22$ $2.85$ $0.63$ $100\cdot130$ $2.34$ $2.41$ $0.07$ $130\cdot140$ $2.23$ $2.26$ $0.03$ Meadow Steppe (1970) $0-5$ $0.46$ $5\cdot10$ $0.46$ $6.60$ $5\cdot10$ $0.46$ $5.83$ $5.20$ $0.56$ $5.31$ $4.75$ $20.25$ $0.46$ $4.78$ $4.31$ $25\cdot30$ $0.54$ $4.93$ $4.39$ $30-35$ $0.44$ $4.38$ $3.95$ $35\cdot40$ $0.48$ $4.45$ $3.97$ $40\cdot45$ $0.51$ $4.15$ $3.64$ $45\cdot50$ $0.55$ $3.00$ $50\cdot60$ $0.90$ $3.40$ $2.50$ $60.70$ $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $70\cdot80$ $2.49$ $3.28$ $0.79$ $80-90$ $2.55$ $3.10$ $0.55$ $90\cdot100$ $2.51$ $2.95$ $0.44$ Planted Forest (1947) $0-5$ $0.63$ $4.65$ $4.03$ $5.10$ $0.56$ $4.08$ $3.51$ $20.25$ $0.58$ $4.01$ $3.43$ $25.30$ $0.57$ $3.11$ $1.71$ $60.77$ $3.21$ $2.65$ $2.86$ $2.31$ $2.65$ $4.045$ $0.56$ $2.50$ $6.63$ </td <td>40-30</td> <td>0.54</td> <td>3.00</td> <td>2.52</td>	40-30	0.54	3.00	2.52				
09-85       1.08 $2.92$ $1.24$ $85-100$ $2.22$ $2.85$ $0.63$ $100-130$ $2.34$ $2.41$ $0.07$ $130-140$ $2.23$ $2.26$ $0.03$ Meadow Steppe (1970) $0-5$ $0.46$ $-5$ $5-10$ $0.46$ $6.60$ $6.14$ $10-15$ $0.49$ $5.83$ $5.35$ $15-20$ $0.56$ $5.31$ $4.75$ $20-25$ $0.46$ $4.78$ $4.31$ $25-30$ $0.54$ $4.93$ $4.39$ $30-35$ $0.44$ $4.38$ $3.95$ $35-40$ $0.48$ $4.45$ $3.97$ $40-45$ $0.51$ $4.15$ $3.64$ $45-50$ $0.55$ $3.55$ $3.00$ $50-60$ $0.90$ $3.40$ $2.50$ $60-70$ $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $70-80$ $2.49$ $3.28$ $0.79$ $80-90$ $2.55$ $3.10$ $0.55$ $90-100$ $2.$	50-09	0.53	2.54	2.01				
35-100 $2.22$ $2.85$ $0.63$ $100-130$ $2.34$ $2.41$ $0.07$ $130-140$ $2.23$ $2.26$ $0.03$ Meadow Steppe (1970) $0.5$ $0.46$ $6.60$ $6.14$ $10-15$ $0.49$ $5.83$ $5.35$ $15.20$ $0.56$ $5.31$ $4.75$ $20-25$ $0.46$ $4.78$ $4.31$ $25.30$ $0.54$ $4.93$ $4.39$ $30-35$ $0.44$ $4.38$ $3.95$ $35.40$ $0.48$ $4.45$ $3.97$ $40.45$ $0.51$ $4.15$ $3.64$ $45.50$ $0.55$ $3.55$ $3.00$ $50-60$ $0.90$ $3.40$ $2.50$ $60.70$ $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $70-80$ $2.49$ $3.28$ $0.79$ $80.90$ $2.55$ $3.10$ $0.55$ $90-100$ $2.51$ $2.95$ $0.44$ $3.86$ $10.15$ $3.28$ $0.79$ $90-90$ $2.55$ $3.10$ $0.55$ $90.100$ $2.51$ $2.95$ $0.44$	09-85	1.68	2.92	1.24				
100-130 $2.34$ $2.41$ $0.07$ $130-140$ $2.23$ $2.26$ $0.03$ Meadow Steppe (1970) $0.5$ $0.46$ $5-5$ $0.46$ $5.10$ $5-5$ $0.46$ $5.83$ $5.10$ $0.49$ $5.83$ $5.20$ $0.56$ $5.31$ $20-25$ $0.46$ $4.78$ $20-25$ $0.46$ $4.78$ $20-25$ $0.46$ $4.78$ $4.31$ $25.30$ $0.54$ $4.93$ $4.39$ $30-35$ $0.44$ $4.38$ $3.97$ $40.45$ $0.51$ $4.15$ $3.64$ $45.50$ $0.55$ $3.55$ $3.00$ $50.60$ $0.90$ $3.40$ $2.50$ $60-70$ $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $7.88$ $0.79$ $80-90$ $2.55$ $3.10$ $0.55$ $0.63$ $4.65$ $4.03$ $5.10$ $0.50$ $4.37$ $3.86$ $10-15$ $0.58$ $4.30$ $3.72$ $15.20$ $0.56$ $4.08$ $3.51$ $20-25$ $0.58$ $4.01$ $3.43$ $25.30$ $0.57$ $3.71$ $3.14$ $30-35$ $0.56$ $3.57$ $3.01$ $3.43$ $25.30$ $0.57$ $3.21$ $2.65$ $2.86$ $2.31$ $4.550$ $0.69$ $2.75$ $2.06$ $5.66$ $3.32$ $0.77$ $8.90$ $2.74$ $3.27$ $0.52$	85-100	2.22	2.85	0.63				
130-1402.232.260.03Meadow Steppe (1970) $0.5$ 0.46 $5-10$ 0.466.606.14 $10-15$ 0.495.835.35 $15-20$ 0.565.314.75 $20-25$ 0.464.784.31 $25-30$ 0.544.934.39 $30-35$ 0.444.383.95 $35-40$ 0.484.453.97 $40.45$ 0.514.153.64 $45-50$ 0.553.553.00 $50-60$ 0.903.402.50 $60-70$ 2.033.521.49 $70-80$ 2.493.280.79 $80-90$ 2.553.100.55 $90-100$ 2.512.950.44Planted Forest (1947) $0-5$ 0.634.654.03 $5-10$ 0.564.083.51 $20-25$ 0.584.013.43 $25-30$ 0.573.713.14 $30-35$ 0.563.573.01 $35-40$ 0.573.212.65 $40.45$ 0.562.862.31 $45-50$ 0.692.752.06 $50-60$ 1.403.111.71 $60-70$ 1.953.101.15 $70-80$ 2.563.320.77 $80-90$ 2.743.270.52	100-130	2.34	2.41	0.07				
Meadow Steppe (1970) $0.5$ $0.46$ $5-10$ $0.46$ $6.60$ $6.14$ $10-15$ $0.49$ $5.83$ $5.35$ $15-20$ $0.56$ $5.31$ $4.75$ $20.25$ $0.46$ $4.78$ $4.31$ $25-30$ $0.54$ $4.93$ $4.39$ $30-35$ $0.44$ $4.38$ $3.95$ $35-40$ $0.48$ $4.45$ $3.97$ $40.45$ $0.51$ $4.15$ $3.64$ $45-50$ $0.55$ $3.55$ $3.00$ $50-60$ $0.90$ $3.40$ $2.50$ $60-70$ $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $70-80$ $2.49$ $3.28$ $0.79$ $80-90$ $2.55$ $3.10$ $0.55$ $90-100$ $2.51$ $2.95$ $0.44$ Planted Forest (1947)V0.56 $0.52$ $0.58$ $4.01$ $3.51$ $0.52$ $0.54$ $20-25$ $0.58$ $4.01$ $3.43$ $3.51$ $20-25$ $0.58$ $4.01$ $3.43$ $3.51$ $20-25$ $0.58$ $4.01$ $3.43$ $3.51$ $20-25$ $0.56$ $3.57$ $3.01$ $3.43$ $25-30$ $0.57$ $3.71$ $3.44$ $0.57$ $3.21$ $2.65$ $4.66$ $2.31$ $40-45$ $0.56$ $2.86$ $2.31$ $4.55$ $0.69$ $2.75$ $2.06$ $50-60$ $1.40$ $3.11$ <tr< td=""><td>130-140</td><td>2.23</td><td>2.26</td><td>0.03</td></tr<>	130-140	2.23	2.26	0.03				
0.5 $0.46$ $5-10$ $0.46$ $6.60$ $6.14$ $10-15$ $0.49$ $5.83$ $5.35$ $15-20$ $0.56$ $5.31$ $4.75$ $20-25$ $0.46$ $4.78$ $4.31$ $25-30$ $0.54$ $4.93$ $4.39$ $30.35$ $0.44$ $4.38$ $3.95$ $35-40$ $0.48$ $4.45$ $3.97$ $40-45$ $0.51$ $4.15$ $3.64$ $45.50$ $0.55$ $3.55$ $3.00$ $50-60$ $0.90$ $3.40$ $2.50$ $60-70$ $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $70-80$ $2.49$ $3.28$ $0.79$ $80-90$ $2.55$ $3.10$ $0.55$ $90-100$ $2.51$ $2.95$ $0.44$ Planted Forest (1947)VVVPlanted Forest (1947)0.55 $90-100$ $2.51$ $2.95$ $0.43$ $3.28$ $4.33$ $3.295$ $0.43$ $3.295$ $0.56$ $4.65$ $4.03$ $3.295$ $0.465$ $4.03$ $3.295$ $3.295$ $3.295$ $3.295$ $3.295$ $3.295$ $3.295$ $3.295$ <t< td=""><td>Meadow Steppe (1970)</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	Meadow Steppe (1970)							
5-10 $0.46$ $6.60$ $6.14$ $10-15$ $0.49$ $5.83$ $5.35$ $15-20$ $0.56$ $5.31$ $4.75$ $20-25$ $0.46$ $4.78$ $4.31$ $25-30$ $0.54$ $4.93$ $4.39$ $30-35$ $0.44$ $4.38$ $3.95$ $35-40$ $0.48$ $4.45$ $3.97$ $40-45$ $0.51$ $4.15$ $3.64$ $45-50$ $0.55$ $3.55$ $3.00$ $50-60$ $0.90$ $3.40$ $2.50$ $60-70$ $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $70-80$ $2.49$ $3.28$ $0.79$ $80-90$ $2.55$ $3.10$ $0.55$ $90-100$ $2.51$ $2.95$ $0.44$ Planted Forest (1947) $0-5$ $0.63$ $4.65$ $4.03$ $5-10$ $0.56$ $4.08$ $3.51$ $20-25$ $0.58$ $4.01$ $3.43$ $25-30$ $0.57$ $3.71$ $3.14$ $30-35$ $0.56$ $3.57$ $3.01$ $35-40$ $0.57$ $3.21$ $2.65$ $40-45$ $0.56$ $2.86$ $2.31$ $45-50$ $0.69$ $2.75$ $2.06$ $50-60$ $1.40$ $3.11$ $1.71$ $60-70$ $1.95$ $3.10$ $1.15$ $70-80$ $2.56$ $3.32$ $0.77$ $80-90$ $2.74$ $3.27$ $0.52$	0-5	0.46						
10.15 $0.49$ $5.83$ $5.35$ $15.20$ $0.56$ $5.31$ $4.75$ $20.25$ $0.46$ $4.78$ $4.31$ $25.30$ $0.54$ $4.93$ $4.39$ $30.35$ $0.44$ $4.38$ $3.95$ $35.40$ $0.48$ $4.45$ $3.97$ $40.45$ $0.51$ $4.15$ $3.64$ $45.50$ $0.55$ $3.55$ $3.00$ $50.60$ $0.90$ $3.40$ $2.50$ $60.70$ $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $70.80$ $2.49$ $3.28$ $0.79$ $80.90$ $2.55$ $3.10$ $0.55$ $90.100$ $2.51$ $2.95$ $0.44$ Planted Forest (1947)0-5 $0.63$ $4.65$ $4.03$ $5.10$ $0.56$ $4.08$ $3.51$ $20.25$ $0.58$ $4.01$ $3.43$ $25.30$ $0.57$ $3.71$ $3.14$ $30.35$ $0.56$ $3.57$ $3.01$ $35.40$ $0.57$ $3.21$ $2.65$ $40.45$ $0.56$ $2.86$ $2.31$ $45.50$ $0.69$ $2.75$ $2.06$ $50.60$ $1.40$ $3.11$ $1.71$ $60.70$ $1.95$ $3.10$ $1.15$ $70.80$ $2.56$ $3.32$ $0.77$ $80.90$ $2.74$ $3.27$ $0.52$	5-10	0.46	6.60	6.14				
15-20 $0.56$ $5.31$ $4.75$ 20-25 $0.46$ $4.78$ $4.31$ 25-30 $0.54$ $4.93$ $4.39$ 30-35 $0.44$ $4.38$ $3.95$ 35-40 $0.48$ $4.45$ $3.97$ $40-45$ $0.51$ $4.15$ $3.64$ $45-50$ $0.55$ $3.55$ $3.00$ $50-60$ $0.90$ $3.40$ $2.50$ $60-70$ $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $70-80$ $2.49$ $3.28$ $0.79$ $80-90$ $2.55$ $3.10$ $0.55$ $90-100$ $2.51$ $2.95$ $0.44$ Planted Forest (1947)Planted Forest (1947) <td <="" colspan="4" td=""><td>10-15</td><td>0.49</td><td>5.83</td><td>5.35</td></td>	<td>10-15</td> <td>0.49</td> <td>5.83</td> <td>5.35</td>				10-15	0.49	5.83	5.35
20-25 $0.46$ $4.78$ $4.31$ $25-30$ $0.54$ $4.93$ $4.39$ $30-35$ $0.44$ $4.38$ $3.95$ $35-40$ $0.48$ $4.45$ $3.97$ $40-45$ $0.51$ $4.15$ $3.64$ $45-50$ $0.55$ $3.55$ $3.00$ $50-60$ $0.90$ $3.40$ $2.50$ $60-70$ $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $70-80$ $2.49$ $3.28$ $0.79$ $80-90$ $2.55$ $3.10$ $0.55$ $90-100$ $2.51$ $2.95$ $0.44$ Planted Forest (1947)-Planted Forest (1947)-Planted Forest (1947)Planted Forest (1947)-Planted Forest (1947)0.550.500.634.654.035.100.553.280.72 </td <td>15-20</td> <td>0.56</td> <td>5.31</td> <td>4.75</td>	15-20	0.56	5.31	4.75				
25-30 $0.54$ $4.93$ $4.39$ $30-35$ $0.44$ $4.38$ $3.95$ $35-40$ $0.48$ $4.45$ $3.97$ $40-45$ $0.51$ $4.15$ $3.64$ $45-50$ $0.55$ $3.55$ $3.00$ $50-60$ $0.90$ $3.40$ $2.50$ $60-70$ $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $70-80$ $2.49$ $3.28$ $0.79$ $80-90$ $2.55$ $3.10$ $0.55$ $90-100$ $2.51$ $2.95$ $0.44$ Planted Forest (1947) $0-5$ $0.63$ $4.65$ $4.03$ $5-10$ $0.56$ $4.37$ $3.86$ $10-15$ $0.58$ $4.30$ $3.72$ $15-20$ $0.56$ $4.08$ $3.51$ $20-25$ $0.58$ $4.01$ $3.43$ $25-30$ $0.57$ $3.71$ $3.14$ $30-35$ $0.56$ $3.57$ $3.01$ $35-40$ $0.57$ $3.21$ $2.65$ $40-45$ $0.56$ $2.86$ $2.31$ $45-50$ $0.69$ $2.75$ $2.06$ $50-60$ $1.40$ $3.11$ $1.71$ $60-70$ $1.95$ $3.10$ $1.15$ $70-80$ $2.56$ $3.32$ $0.77$ $80-90$ $2.74$ $3.27$ $0.52$	20-25	0.46	4.78	4.31				
30-35 $0.44$ $4.38$ $3.95$ $35-40$ $0.48$ $4.45$ $3.97$ $40-45$ $0.51$ $4.15$ $3.64$ $45-50$ $0.55$ $3.55$ $3.00$ $50-60$ $0.90$ $3.40$ $2.50$ $60-70$ $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $70-80$ $2.49$ $3.28$ $0.79$ $80-90$ $2.55$ $3.10$ $0.55$ $90-100$ $2.51$ $2.95$ $0.44$ Planted Forest (1947)	25-30	0.54	4.93	4.39				
35-40 $0.48$ $4.45$ $3.97$ $40-45$ $0.51$ $4.15$ $3.64$ $45-50$ $0.55$ $3.55$ $3.00$ $50-60$ $0.90$ $3.40$ $2.50$ $60-70$ $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $70-80$ $2.49$ $3.28$ $0.79$ $80-90$ $2.55$ $3.10$ $0.55$ $90-100$ $2.51$ $2.95$ $0.44$ Planted Forest (1947) $0-5$ $0.63$ $4.65$ $4.03$ $5-10$ $0.50$ $4.37$ $3.86$ $10-15$ $0.58$ $4.30$ $3.72$ $15-20$ $0.56$ $4.08$ $3.51$ $20-25$ $0.58$ $4.01$ $3.43$ $25-30$ $0.57$ $3.71$ $3.14$ $30-35$ $0.56$ $2.86$ $2.31$ $45-50$ $0.69$ $2.75$ $2.06$ $50-60$ $1.40$ $3.11$ $1.71$ $60-70$ $1.95$ $3.10$ $1.15$ $70-80$ $2.56$ $3.32$ $0.77$ $80-90$ $2.74$ $3.27$ $0.52$	30-35	0.44	4.38	3.95				
40.45 $0.51$ $4.15$ $3.64$ $45.50$ $0.55$ $3.55$ $3.00$ $50.60$ $0.90$ $3.40$ $2.50$ $60.70$ $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $70.80$ $2.49$ $3.28$ $0.79$ $80.90$ $2.55$ $3.10$ $0.55$ $90.100$ $2.51$ $2.95$ $0.44$ Planted Forest (1947) $0.5$ $0.63$ $4.65$ $4.03$ $5-10$ $0.50$ $4.37$ $3.86$ $10-15$ $0.58$ $4.30$ $3.72$ $15-20$ $0.56$ $4.08$ $3.51$ $20-25$ $0.58$ $4.01$ $3.43$ $25-30$ $0.57$ $3.71$ $3.14$ $30-35$ $0.56$ $3.57$ $3.01$ $35-40$ $0.57$ $3.21$ $2.65$ $40-45$ $0.56$ $2.86$ $2.31$ $45-50$ $0.69$ $2.75$ $2.06$ $50-60$ $1.40$ $3.11$ $1.71$ $60-70$ $1.95$ $3.10$ $1.15$ $70-80$ $2.56$ $3.32$ $0.77$ $80-90$ $2.74$ $3.27$ $0.52$	35-40	0.48	4.45	3.97				
45-50 $0.55$ $3.55$ $3.00$ $50-60$ $0.90$ $3.40$ $2.50$ $60-70$ $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $70-80$ $2.49$ $3.28$ $0.79$ $80-90$ $2.55$ $3.10$ $0.55$ $90-100$ $2.51$ $2.95$ $0.44$ Planted Forest (1947) $0-5$ $0.63$ $4.65$ $4.03$ $5-10$ $0.50$ $4.37$ $3.86$ $10-15$ $0.58$ $4.30$ $3.72$ $15-20$ $0.56$ $4.08$ $3.51$ $20-25$ $0.58$ $4.01$ $3.43$ $25-30$ $0.57$ $3.71$ $3.14$ $30-35$ $0.56$ $3.57$ $3.01$ $35-40$ $0.57$ $3.21$ $2.65$ $40-45$ $0.56$ $2.86$ $2.31$ $45-50$ $0.69$ $2.75$ $2.06$ $50-60$ $1.40$ $3.11$ $1.71$ $60-70$ $1.95$ $3.10$ $1.15$ $70-80$ $2.56$ $3.32$ $0.77$ $80-90$ $2.74$ $3.27$ $0.52$	40-45	0.51	4.15	3.64				
50-60 $0.90$ $3.40$ $2.50$ $60-70$ $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $70-80$ $2.49$ $3.28$ $0.79$ $80-90$ $2.55$ $3.10$ $0.55$ $90-100$ $2.51$ $2.95$ $0.44$ Planted Forest (1947) $0-5$ $0.63$ $4.65$ $4.03$ $5-10$ $0.50$ $4.37$ $3.86$ $10-15$ $0.58$ $4.30$ $3.72$ $15-20$ $0.56$ $4.08$ $3.51$ $20-25$ $0.58$ $4.01$ $3.43$ $25-30$ $0.57$ $3.71$ $3.14$ $30-35$ $0.56$ $3.57$ $3.01$ $35-40$ $0.57$ $3.21$ $2.65$ $40-45$ $0.56$ $2.86$ $2.31$ $45-50$ $0.69$ $2.75$ $2.06$ $50-60$ $1.40$ $3.11$ $1.71$ $60-70$ $1.95$ $3.10$ $1.15$ $70-80$ $2.56$ $3.32$ $0.77$ $80-90$ $2.74$ $3.27$ $0.52$ $90.100$ $2.61$ $2.04$ $0.52$	45-50	0.55	3.55	3.00				
60-70 $2.03$ $3.52$ $1.49$ $70-80$ $2.49$ $3.28$ $0.79$ $80-90$ $2.55$ $3.10$ $0.55$ $90-100$ $2.51$ $2.95$ $0.44$ Planted Forest (1947) $0-5$ $0.63$ $4.65$ $4.03$ $5-10$ $0.50$ $4.37$ $3.86$ $10-15$ $0.58$ $4.30$ $3.72$ $15-20$ $0.56$ $4.08$ $3.51$ $20-25$ $0.58$ $4.01$ $3.43$ $25-30$ $0.57$ $3.71$ $3.14$ $30-35$ $0.56$ $3.57$ $3.01$ $35-40$ $0.57$ $3.21$ $2.65$ $40-45$ $0.56$ $2.86$ $2.31$ $45-50$ $0.69$ $2.75$ $2.06$ $50-60$ $1.40$ $3.11$ $1.71$ $60-70$ $1.95$ $3.10$ $1.15$ $70-80$ $2.56$ $3.32$ $0.77$ $80-90$ $2.74$ $3.27$ $0.52$	50-60	0.90	3.40	2.50				
70-80 $2.49$ $3.28$ $0.79$ $80-90$ $2.55$ $3.10$ $0.55$ $90-100$ $2.51$ $2.95$ $0.44$ Planted Forest (1947) $0-5$ $0.63$ $4.65$ $4.03$ $5-10$ $0.50$ $4.37$ $3.86$ $10-15$ $0.58$ $4.30$ $3.72$ $15-20$ $0.56$ $4.08$ $3.51$ $20-25$ $0.58$ $4.01$ $3.43$ $25-30$ $0.57$ $3.71$ $3.14$ $30-35$ $0.56$ $3.57$ $3.01$ $35-40$ $0.57$ $3.21$ $2.65$ $40-45$ $0.56$ $2.86$ $2.31$ $45-50$ $0.69$ $2.75$ $2.06$ $50-60$ $1.40$ $3.11$ $1.71$ $60-70$ $1.95$ $3.10$ $1.15$ $70-80$ $2.56$ $3.32$ $0.77$ $80-90$ $2.74$ $3.27$ $0.52$ $90.100$ $2.61$ $2.24$ $0.57$	60-70	2.03	3.52	1.49				
80-90 $2.55$ $3.10$ $0.55$ $90-100$ $2.51$ $2.95$ $0.44$ Planted Forest (1947) $0-5$ $0.63$ $4.65$ $4.03$ $5-10$ $0.50$ $4.37$ $3.86$ $10-15$ $0.58$ $4.30$ $3.72$ $15-20$ $0.56$ $4.08$ $3.51$ $20-25$ $0.58$ $4.01$ $3.43$ $25-30$ $0.57$ $3.71$ $3.14$ $30-35$ $0.56$ $3.57$ $3.01$ $35-40$ $0.57$ $3.21$ $2.65$ $40-45$ $0.56$ $2.86$ $2.31$ $45-50$ $0.69$ $2.75$ $2.06$ $50-60$ $1.40$ $3.11$ $1.71$ $60-70$ $1.95$ $3.10$ $1.15$ $70-80$ $2.56$ $3.32$ $0.77$ $80-90$ $2.74$ $3.27$ $0.52$	70-80	2.49	3.28	0.79				
90-100 $2.51$ $2.95$ $0.44$ Planted Forest (1947) $0-5$ $0.63$ $4.65$ $4.03$ $5-10$ $0.50$ $4.37$ $3.86$ $10-15$ $0.58$ $4.30$ $3.72$ $15-20$ $0.56$ $4.08$ $3.51$ $20-25$ $0.58$ $4.01$ $3.43$ $25-30$ $0.57$ $3.71$ $3.14$ $30-35$ $0.56$ $3.57$ $3.01$ $35-40$ $0.57$ $3.21$ $2.65$ $40-45$ $0.56$ $2.86$ $2.31$ $45-50$ $0.69$ $2.75$ $2.06$ $50-60$ $1.40$ $3.11$ $1.71$ $60-70$ $1.95$ $3.10$ $1.15$ $70-80$ $2.56$ $3.32$ $0.77$ $80-90$ $2.74$ $3.27$ $0.52$	80-90	2.55	3.10	0.55				
Planted Forest (1947) $0-5$ $0.63$ $4.65$ $4.03$ $5-10$ $0.50$ $4.37$ $3.86$ $10-15$ $0.58$ $4.30$ $3.72$ $15-20$ $0.56$ $4.08$ $3.51$ $20-25$ $0.58$ $4.01$ $3.43$ $25-30$ $0.57$ $3.71$ $3.14$ $30-35$ $0.56$ $3.57$ $3.01$ $35-40$ $0.57$ $3.21$ $2.65$ $40-45$ $0.56$ $2.86$ $2.31$ $45-50$ $0.69$ $2.75$ $2.06$ $50-60$ $1.40$ $3.11$ $1.71$ $60-70$ $1.95$ $3.10$ $1.15$ $70-80$ $2.56$ $3.32$ $0.77$ $80-90$ $2.74$ $3.27$ $0.52$	90-100	2.51	2.95	0.44				
0-50.634.654.035-100.504.373.8610-150.584.303.7215-200.564.083.5120-250.584.013.4325-300.573.713.1430-350.563.573.0135-400.573.212.6540-450.562.862.3145-500.692.752.0650-601.403.111.7160-701.953.101.1570-802.563.320.7780-902.743.270.52	Diantad Farast (1047)							
0-5 $0.05$ $4.05$ $4.05$ $4.05$ $5-10$ $0.50$ $4.37$ $3.86$ $10-15$ $0.58$ $4.30$ $3.72$ $15-20$ $0.56$ $4.08$ $3.51$ $20-25$ $0.58$ $4.01$ $3.43$ $25-30$ $0.57$ $3.71$ $3.14$ $30-35$ $0.56$ $3.57$ $3.01$ $35-40$ $0.57$ $3.21$ $2.65$ $40-45$ $0.56$ $2.86$ $2.31$ $45-50$ $0.69$ $2.75$ $2.06$ $50-60$ $1.40$ $3.11$ $1.71$ $60-70$ $1.95$ $3.10$ $1.15$ $70-80$ $2.56$ $3.32$ $0.77$ $80-90$ $2.74$ $3.27$ $0.52$	0 5	0.63	1 65	4.03				
$10^{-15}$ $0.50^{-}$ $4.57^{-}$ $3.66^{-}$ $10^{-15}$ $0.58^{-}$ $4.30^{-}$ $3.72^{-}$ $15^{-20}$ $0.56^{-}$ $4.08^{-}$ $3.51^{-}$ $20^{-25}$ $0.58^{-}$ $4.01^{-}$ $3.43^{-}$ $20^{-25}$ $0.58^{-}$ $4.01^{-}$ $3.43^{-}$ $20^{-25}$ $0.57^{-}$ $3.71^{-}$ $3.14^{-}$ $30^{-35}$ $0.56^{-}$ $3.57^{-}$ $3.01^{-}$ $35^{-40}$ $0.57^{-}$ $3.21^{-}$ $2.65^{-}$ $40^{-45}$ $0.56^{-}$ $2.86^{-}$ $2.31^{-}$ $45^{-50}$ $0.69^{-}$ $2.75^{-}$ $2.06^{-}$ $50^{-60}$ $1.40^{-}$ $3.11^{-}$ $1.71^{-}$ $60^{-70}$ $1.95^{-}$ $3.10^{-}$ $1.15^{-}$ $70^{-80}$ $2.56^{-}$ $3.32^{-}$ $0.77^{-}$ $80^{-90}$ $2.74^{-}$ $3.27^{-}$ $0.52^{-}$	5 10	0.03	4.05	4.05				
10-15 $0.56$ $4.50$ $5.72$ $15-20$ $0.56$ $4.08$ $3.51$ $20-25$ $0.58$ $4.01$ $3.43$ $25-30$ $0.57$ $3.71$ $3.14$ $30-35$ $0.56$ $3.57$ $3.01$ $35-40$ $0.57$ $3.21$ $2.65$ $40-45$ $0.56$ $2.86$ $2.31$ $45-50$ $0.69$ $2.75$ $2.06$ $50-60$ $1.40$ $3.11$ $1.71$ $60-70$ $1.95$ $3.10$ $1.15$ $70-80$ $2.56$ $3.32$ $0.77$ $80-90$ $2.74$ $3.27$ $0.52$	10-15	0.58	4.30	3.70				
15-20 $0.50$ $4.03$ $3.51$ $20-25$ $0.58$ $4.01$ $3.43$ $25-30$ $0.57$ $3.71$ $3.14$ $30-35$ $0.56$ $3.57$ $3.01$ $35-40$ $0.57$ $3.21$ $2.65$ $40-45$ $0.56$ $2.86$ $2.31$ $45-50$ $0.69$ $2.75$ $2.06$ $50-60$ $1.40$ $3.11$ $1.71$ $60-70$ $1.95$ $3.10$ $1.15$ $70-80$ $2.56$ $3.32$ $0.77$ $80-90$ $2.74$ $3.27$ $0.52$	15-15	0.56	4.50	3.72				
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	20.25	0.58	4.00	3.13				
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	25 30	0.57	4.01	3.14				
30-35       0.50       3.57       3.01         35-40       0.57       3.21       2.65         40-45       0.56       2.86       2.31         45-50       0.69       2.75       2.06         50-60       1.40       3.11       1.71         60-70       1.95       3.10       1.15         70-80       2.56       3.32       0.77         80-90       2.74       3.27       0.52	20 35	0.57	3.71	3.14				
35-40       0.57       5.21       2.05         40-45       0.56       2.86       2.31         45-50       0.69       2.75       2.06         50-60       1.40       3.11       1.71         60-70       1.95       3.10       1.15         70-80       2.56       3.32       0.77         80-90       2.74       3.27       0.52	35.40	0.50	3.57	2.65				
45-50       0.69       2.75       2.06         50-60       1.40       3.11       1.71         60-70       1.95       3.10       1.15         70-80       2.56       3.32       0.77         80-90       2.74       3.27       0.52	40 45	0.57	2.21	2.05				
43-30       0.09       2.73       2.00         50-60       1.40       3.11       1.71         60-70       1.95       3.10       1.15         70-80       2.56       3.32       0.77         80-90       2.74       3.27       0.52         90-100       2.61       2.24       0.72	40-43	0.50	2.00	2.51				
50-00       1.40       5.11       1.71         60-70       1.95       3.10       1.15         70-80       2.56       3.32       0.77         80-90       2.74       3.27       0.52         90-100       2.61       2.24       0.72	4J-JU 50 60	0.09	2.75	2.00 1.71				
1.95       5.10       1.15         70-80       2.56       3.32       0.77         80-90       2.74       3.27       0.52         90       2.61       2.24       0.72	50-00	1.40	3.11 2.10	1./1				
2.50         5.52         0.77           80-90         2.74         3.27         0.52           00 100         2.61         2.24         0.72	70.90	1.90	5.10 2.22	1.13				
00-70         2.14         3.21         0.32           00-100         2.61         2.64         0.62	/U-0U 80.00	2.30	3.32 2.27	0.77				
9121111 7.61 3.771 1.67	90-90 90_100	2.74 2.61	3.21	0.52				

Depth (cm)	Carbonate (%)	Total Carbon (%)	Organic Carbon (%)
Tilled Field (1920)			
0-5	0.23		
5-10	0.33	4.17	3.84
10-15	0.31		
15-20	0.29		
20-25	0.30		
25-30	0.27	3.08	2.80
30-35	0.37	3.15	2.78
35-40	0.33	2.72	2.39
40-45	0.48	2.37	1.88
45-50	1.09	2.73	1.65
50-60	1.62	2.58	0.96
60-70	1.97	2.58	0.61
70-80	1.43	1.98	0.55
80-90	1.42	1.60	0.18
90-97	0.95	1.49	0.54

Depth interval (cm)	Organic Carbon (%)
Pit 2 (Meadow Steppe)	
0-6	7.03
6-30	5.43
30-38	4.08
38-48	3.51
48-73	2.64
73-78	1.77
78-95	1.04
95-145	0.55
Pit 3 (Meadow Steppe)	
3-6	7.00
6-30	5.98
30-40	3.95
40-50	3.71
50-75	3.17
75-80	2.27
80-95	1.03
95-145	0.37
Pit 4 (Planted Forest)	0.10
0-3	8.10
3-0 C 10	6.50 5.12
0-10	5.12
10-20	4.41
20-30	4.26
30-40	3.41
40-47	3.16
47-67	2.35
67-72	1.44
72-93	0.72
93-118	0.27
118-138	0.21

Table VI Averaged organic carbon concentrations in data set 2 at combined depth intervals in the modern pits from each of the different land uses. The organic carbon concentrations shown were combined and averaged from various depth intervals within each pit to best match the corresponding pit from that particular land use.
Depth interval (cm)	Organic Carbon (%)
Pit 6 (Planted Forest)	
3-6	8.94
6-10	8.54
10-20	6.79
20-30	4.92
30-39	4.33
39-48	3.94
48-67	2.96
67-77	1.69
77-101	1.09
101-115	0.74
115-130	0.28
Pit 9 (Tilled Field)	
0-3	4.63
3-6	4.62
6-15	4.43
15-26	4.44
28-36	4.83
36-51	4.45
51-70	2.25
70-95	1.00
95-120	0.39
120-140	0.23
Pit 10 (Tilled Field)	
0-3	4.55
3-6	4.23
6-15	4.43
15-25	4.30
25-30	4.48
30-46	3.88
46-69	2.26
69-100	0.94
100-130	0.07
130-140	0.03

Depth interval (cm)	nterval (cm) Total Carbon (%) Organic Carbon	
Pit 2 (Meadow Steppe)		
0-15	7.34	6.84
15-25	5.75	5.29
25-38	4.85	4.31
38-48	4.09	3.51
48-68	3.49	2.93
68-78	2.50	1.91
78-95	2.43	1.04
95-125	2.52	0.65
125-145	2.24	0.44
Pit 6 (Planted Forest)		
3-20	8.59	8.09
20-30	5.34	4.92
30-43	4.67	4.17
43-58	4.11	3.61
58-77	3.08	2.13
77-101	3.03	1.09
101-115	2.94	0.74
115-130	2.64	0.28
Pit 10 (Tilled Field)		
0-15	4.92	4.40
15-30	4.88	4.39
30-46	4.39	3.88
46-69	2.80	2.26
69-100	2.88	0.94
100-130	2.41	0.07
130-140	2.26	0.03

Table VII Averaged total carbon and organic carbon concentrations of the modern representative pits from data set 2 at combined depth intervals from each of the different land uses. The carbon concentrations shown were combined and averaged from various depth intervals within each respective pit.



Figure 1 Map of Russia showing the Kamennaya Steppe Preserve where the Dokuchaev Institute is located. The gray shading represents the historic range of steppe. From Torn et al. (2002).



Figure 2 Kamennaya Steppe National Park.

Pristine	Meadow Steppe	Planted forest	Tilled Field	Time
Data Set 1 Data Set 2	Data Set 1 Data Set 2	Data Set 1 Data Set 2	Data Set 1   Data Set 2	
	Seasonal hay removal started 1882	Seasonal hay removal started 1882	Seasonal hay removal started 1882	1882
HRSC 1900 archive taken Organic				1900
· · · · ·		Land tilled, acoms planted 1908		1908
	Seasonal hay cutting, left on ground 1912		Seasonal hay cutting, left on ground 1912	1912
			1920 archive taken Field was plowed for wheat production Total Est. Carbonate Estimated Organic	1920
		1947 archive taken (1947) Total Est. Carbonate Estimated Organic		1947
	1970 archive taken Total Est. Carbonate Estimated Organic	ł		1970
Modern HRSC 1997 taken				1997
	Modern Pits 2, 3 taken 1998 Total Total Organic Est. Carbonate Estimated Organic	Modern Pits 4, 6 taken 1998 Total Total Organic Est. Carbonate Estimated Organic	Modern Pits 9, 10 taken 1998 Total Total Organic Est. Carbonate Estimated Organic	1998

Figure 3 Summary of the types of data available for data set 1 and data set 2 in each land use. Total and organic are analyzed forms of carbon concentration. Est. carbonate is an estimated carbonate concentration based on a total digest analysis. Estimated organic is the difference between total carbon and est. carbonate. The dates are years in which samples were taken or a treatment was done on the land use.



Figure 4 Archived monolith HRSC 1900. The letters a and b indicate the top and bottom half of the monolith, respectively. From Torn et al. (2002).



Figure 5 The meadow steppe (a) planted forest (b) and tilled field (c) in 1998.



Figure 6 The meadow steppe (a) planted forest (b) and tilled field (c) soil pits in 1998.



Figure 7 The relative locations of the modern (1998) soil pits within each land use. The white represents the meadow steppe. The green represents the planted forest. The yellow represents the tilled field.



Figure 8 Organic carbon concentrations of two modern samples from the meadow steppe (a) planted forest (b) and tilled field (c) plotted against the midpoint of sample depth.



Figure 9 Total and organic carbon concentrations from data set 1 from the meadow steppe (a) planted forest (b) and tilled field (c) plotted together against the midpoint of sample depth.



Figure 10 Analyzed and estimated organic carbon concentrations from data sets 1 and 2, respectively from the meadow steppe (a) planted forest (b) and tilled field (c) plotted together against the midpoint of sample depth.



Figure 11 Analyzed total carbon concentrations from data sets 1 and 2, respectively from the meadow steppe (a) planted forest (b) and tilled field (c) plotted together against the midpoint of sample depth.



Figure 12 Modern total, organic, and carbonate concentrations from pit 2 (a) and pit 3 (b) in the meadow steppe plotted against the midpoint of sample depth. The carbonate threshold represents the point where the carbonate concentration increases rapidly with increased depth.



Figure 13 Modern total, organic, and carbonate concentrations from pit 4 (a) and pit 6 (b) in the planted forest plotted against the midpoint of sample depth. The carbonate threshold represents the point where the carbonate concentration increases rapidly with increased depth.



Figure 14 Modern total, organic, and carbonate concentrations from pit 9 (a) and pit 10 (b) in the tilled field plotted against the midpoint of sample depth. The carbonate threshold represents the point where the carbonate concentration increases rapidly with increased depth.



Figure 15 Archived total, organic, and carbonate concentrations from the meadow steppe plotted against the midpoint of sample depth. The carbonate threshold represents the point where the carbonate concentration increases rapidly with increased depth.



Figure 16 Archived total, organic, and carbonate concentrations from the planted forest plotted against the midpoint of sample depth. The carbonate threshold represents the point where the carbonate concentration increases rapidly with increased depth.



Figure 17 Archived total, organic, and carbonate concentrations from the tilled field plotted against the midpoint of sample depth. The carbonate threshold represents the point where the carbonate concentration increases rapidly with increased depth.



Figure 18 Archived (a) and modern (b) carbonate concentrations plotted against the midpoint of sample depth. The carbonate threshold represents the point where the carbonate concentration increases rapidly with increased depth.



Figure 19 Archived and modern carbonate concentrations plotted against the midpoint of sample depth. The carbonate threshold represents the point where the carbonate concentration increases rapidly with increased depth.



Figure 20 Archived pristine and modern organic carbon concentrations plotted against the midpoint of sample depth.



Figure 21 Archived and modern organic carbon concentrations from the meadow steppe plotted against the midpoint of sample depth.



Figure 22 Archived and modern organic carbon concentrations from the planted forest plotted against the midpoint of sample depth.



Figure 23 Archived and organic carbon concentrations from the tilled field plotted against the midpoint of sample depth.



Figure 24 Archived pristine and modern bulk densities plotted against the midpoint of sample depth.



Figure 25 Modern total carbon stocks in the top 20 cm of soil in the different land use types.



Figure 26 Archived pristine and modern organic carbon stocks in the top 20 cm of soil in the different land use types.



Figure 27 Archived pristine and modern organic carbon stocks in the top 50 cm of soil in the different land use types.



Figure 28 Modern total carbon stocks in the top 100 cm of soil in the different land use types.



Figure 27 Archived pristine and modern organic carbon stocks in the top 100 cm of soil in the different land use types.